RISK SHIFTING AND FAIR VALUE ACCOUNTING IN THE BANKING INDUSTRY

A Dissertation

Presented to

The Faculty of the C.T. Bauer College of Business

University of Houston

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

By

Christian Kuiate

May 2014

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to the members of my dissertation committee Arthur Francia, Emre Kilic, Rauli Susmel, and especially Gerald Lobo (Chairman) for their steadfast support and guidance throughout this project. They have spared no effort helping me acquire and develop the thought process necessary to complete this journey.

I am particularly grateful to Arthur Francia. I have tremendously benefited from his lifelong extraordinary capacity and willingness to mentor graduate students under his guidance. I am much honored to call him a friend.

I would like to thank The Department of Accountancy and Taxation at The University of Houston for the extraordinary support I received. In particular, I thank Dr. Kaye Newberry and Dr. Jim Pratt for their guidance.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and particularly my dear brother Raymond for the unconditional love.

RISK SHIFTING AND FAIR VALUE ACCOUNTING IN THE BANKING INDUSTRY

ABSTRACT

I examine whether and how the improvements in fair value disclosures resulting from the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 157, *Fair Value Measurement*, s affect banks' investment decisions. Using a sample of the largest one hundred publicly-traded bank holding companies, I find that, SFAS 157 does not affect the extent to which banks invest in high or low liquidity risk securities. Further cross-sectional analyses reveal that, following the adoption of SFAS 157m banks with high (low) funding liquidity needs reduce (increase) their holdings of high liquidity risk securities. These findings are consistent with the improved fair value disclosures contributing to mitigating the risk shifting incentives of banks with high funding liquidity needs and having no effect on a liquidity risk arbitrage strategy for banks with low funding liquidity needs. Consistent with the risk overhang hypothesis, I also find that banks with high funding liquidity needs use their discretion in fair value measurements to conceal the losses on their investment securities.

Table of Contents

1.	Intr	oduction1
2.	Ris	k Shifting Incentives
	2.1.	Risk Shifting in the Banking Industry
	2.2.	Accounting Information and Risk Shifting Incentives
	2.3.	Hypotheses Development: Fair Value Accounting and Risk Shifting Incentives
		18
3.	Res	earch Design
	3.1.	Sample Selection and Data
	3.2.	Econometric models
4.	Res	ults
	4.1.	Descriptive Statistics and Univariate Comparisons
	4.2.	Regression Results
	4.2.	1. SFAS 157 and risk shifting incentives
	4.2.	2. Funding liquidity and the effects of SFAS 157 on investment in high
	liqu	idity risk securities41
	4.2.	3. Relaxation of Fair Value Accounting Rules and The Predictive Ability of
	Fair	Value for Future Financial Performance
	4.3.	Sensitivity Analyses
5	Cor	A6

Appendix 1: Fair value disclosure for investment securities under SFAS No. 107 for	
JPMorgan Chase & Co., Fiscal year 2004.	. 49
	. 49
Appendix 2: Fair value disclosure for investment securities under SFAS No. 115 for	
Bank of America, Inc., Fiscal year 2005.	. 50
Appendix 3: Fair value disclosure for investment securities under SFAS No. 115 for	
Wells Fargo, Inc., Quarter 1, Fiscal year 2011.	. 52
Bibliography	. 54

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics	. 75
Table 2: Correlation Matrix	. 77
Table 3: Changes in Fair Value Accounting Rules and Risk Shifting	. 78
Table 4: Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting conditional on funding	g
liquidity needs	. 79
Table 5: Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting conditional on funding	g
liquidity needs	. 80
Table 6: Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting	. 83

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Fair value disclosure for investment securities under SFAS No. 107 for	
JPMorgan Chase & Co., Fiscal year 2004.	. 49
Appendix 2: Fair value disclosure for investment securities under SFAS No. 115 for	
Bank of America, Inc., Fiscal year 2005.	. 50
Appendix 3: Fair value disclosure for investment securities under SFAS No. 115 for	
Wells Fargo, Inc., Quarter 1, Fiscal year 2011.	. 52

1. Introduction

This study examines whether and how the improvements in fair value disclosures resulting from the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 157, *Fair Value Measurements* (SFAS 157 hereafter) affect banks' investment decisions. Risktaking by banks can be exacerbated by risk shifting¹ incentives resulting from banks' high leverage and the availability of deposit insurance (Jensen and Meckling 1976; Kareken and Wallace 1978; Boyd and Hakenes 2013). In addition, during a liquidity crisis, banks may also pursue a strategy of investing in illiquid securities for "arbitrage" reasons (Acharya and Viswanathan 2011; Ryan 2011; Diamond and Rajan 2011)². Both risk shifting and arbitrage incentives result in increases in banks' overall risk, and particularly liquidity risk during a period marked by severe liquidity shocks such as the 2007-2009 financial crisis. SFAS 157 provides market participants with more transparent fair value disclosures for banks' financial instruments. Consistent with higher quality accounting information enabling a more efficient allocation of capital (Bushman and Smith 2003), I investigate the effects of the SFAS 157 on banks' investment decisions.

_

¹ Risk shifting is an agency conflict whereby an entrepreneur obtains financing from lenders and afterwards transfers wealth away from the lenders by switching her investment to riskier assets as the riskier assets maximize her return at the detriment of the lenders (Jensen and Meckling 1976).

² The term arbitrage is used here to refer to the possibility that some banks with spare liquidity during a liquidity shock may purchase assets at fire-sale prices and sell them later when the asset value recovers. I borrow the term from Acharya and Viswanathan (2011).

First, I examine whether the improved fair value disclosures affect banks' risk shifting incentives. On one hand, more precise fair value information in the form of providing a clear distinction between various classes of assets enables outsiders to rank banks based on the liquidity risk of their portfolio of investment securities. Banks with higher liquidity risk on their balance sheet would be exposed to more scrutiny from regulators and other outsiders,³ thus mitigating their risk shifting incentives (Lu et al. 2011; Laux and Leuz 2010). On the other hand, improved fair value disclosures may exacerbate risk shifting by enabling banks to obtain more financing for their low liquidity risk securities.⁴ The additional financing obtained enables the bank to expand its investment horizon, thus increasing the likelihood of risk shifting activities (Burkhardt and Strausz 2006). In a coarser disclosure regime such as the one prevailing before SFAS 157, banks with low liquidity risk securities may suffer from the "lemons" problem. The improvements in fair value disclosures enable the bank to finance its low liquidity risk securities at higher prices and invest in a broader class of assets with various risk levels.

Using a sample of the largest one hundred publicly traded bank holding companies which survived during the financial crisis and which received government assistance through the Capital Purchase Program (CPP) of the Troubled Asset Relief Program

³ It is necessary to note that I focus on the informational effects of the new disclosures for the agency conflict between the bank and non-regulatory outsiders. In times of crisis, regulators are primarily concerned with containing the effects of the crisis, resulting in an expectation of excessive regulatory forbearance by the banks.

⁴ It is necessary to note that this argument implies that banks have the ability to engage in within-quarter alterations of their portfolios of investment securities that can be unwound before the end of the quarter and thus not detectable by outsiders.

(TARP)⁵, I examine the effects of SFAS 157 on risk shifting incentives in the banking industry. I measure the extent of risk shifting through the association between a change in a bank's liquidity risk and its purchases of investment securities. I focus on liquidity risk because the fair value hierarchy disclosure introduced by SFAS 157 informs about the reliability of the fair value inputs which are based on the liquidity of the market for the assets measured at fair value (Lev and Zhou 2009). I focus exclusively on a sample of banks which took part to the CPP because of the effects of expected regulatory forbearance on banks' incentives during the crisis⁶. The expectation that banks' may be bailed out strengthens risk shifting incentives and partially relieves my analyses from the burden of accounting for the restructuring in banks' securities portfolio because of the financial crisis.

A positive association between a change in bank's liquidity risk and its purchases of investment securities indicates that, on average, banks purchased securities with a liquidity risk higher than the average liquidity risk of their current portfolio. My findings suggest that, on average, SFAS 157 does not affect the extent to which banks invest in high or low liquidity risk securities.

My primary findings and the empirical equivalence between the effects of risk shifting and risk arbitrage incentives call for further analyses into the effects of SFAS 157 on banks' investment decisions. Second, I examine the cross-sectional variations in the effects of SFAS 157 on banks' investment decisions. A bank's funding liquidity status

⁵ I focus on banks which received federal financial assistance through the CPP in order to capture the expectation of regulatory forbearance which results in these banks being primarily concerned with the agency conflict with non-regulatory outsiders.

⁶ He et al. (2010) provide evidence indicating that contrary to other sectors of the financial services industry, commercial banks experience an increase in their holdings of investment securities during the financial crisis. One explanation for this behavior is the availability of implicit financial guarantees from the U.S. government and the Federal Reserve to the commercial banking sector and not to other sectors that were more dependent on private financing sources.

determines its incentive to engage in risk shifting (Acharya and Viswanathan 2011; Diamond and Rajan 2011). In addition, during a period characterized by shocks to liquidity, a bank's funding liquidity status may also determine its ability to engage in liquidity risk arbitrage (Ryan 2011; Sadka 2012). SFAS 157 is likely to more effectively dampen risk shifting for banks with high funding liquidity needs⁷ than for banks with low funding liquidity needs. Banks with high funding liquidity needs have stronger incentives to engage in risk shifting both before and during a liquidity crisis (Diamond and Rajan 2011; He et al. 2010). The creditors of banks with high funding liquidity needs face a higher risk of expropriation and thus require and may use higher quality accounting information to constrain the risk shifting behavior of banks with high funding liquidity needs. Consequently, banks with high funding liquidity needs are more likely to refrain from investing in high liquidity risk securities as a result of the improvements in transparency associated with the informative fair value disclosures. On the other hand, during a liquidity crisis, banks with low funding liquidity needs may follow an "arbitrage" strategy by acquiring relatively safer securities whose depressed prices mostly reflect temporary liquidity discounts (Acharya and Viswanathan 2011; Ryan 2011; Diamond and Rajan 2011; Sadka 2012). As the markets emerge from the liquidity crisis, these securities return to their fundamental values faster than riskier securities.⁸ The lower reliance of these banks on creditors to finance their operations mitigates the monitoring incentives of outsiders and reinforces the influence of banks' shareholders who are likely to encourage this strategy rather than constrain it.

_

⁷ Hereafter, I use the terms funding liquidity needs and funding liquidity constraints interchangeably.

⁸ Anecdotally, JP Morgan Chase Bank reports a \$177 billion worth of purchases of AFS securities for the first quarter of 2009 compared to \$46 billion for the first quarter of 2008. These purchases are free from the effects of the acquisition in mid-2008 of Bear Stearns and Washington Mutual by JP Morgan Chase Bank.

I test these hypotheses by distinguishing between banks using their net exposure to the market for securities sold under repurchase agreements. I consider banks with an above-median net liability position to be liquidity constrained. My findings indicate that SFAS 157 does lead to a reduction in risk shifting through investment securities for liquidity constrained banks. However, for banks with low funding liquidity needs, the results of these tests indicate an increase in the intensity of investment in high liquidity risk securities. Given their liquidity position and prior analytical evidence (Acharya and Viswanathan 2011; Diamond and Rajan 2011), I interpret these findings to suggest that these banks follow a risk arbitrage rather than a risk shifting strategy, and this behavior is not affected by SFAS 157.

Third, I examine the implications of risk shifting incentives for the reliability of fair value measurements. Reliable fair value measurements should result in a positive relation between the accumulated unrealized holding gains and losses on investment securities and the future realized gains and losses on these securities (Ryan 2007; Evans et al. 2013). This positive association reflects the opportunity costs and benefits of holding the cash flow rights to the financial instruments. Manipulations or errors in the fair value estimates of these securities distort this fundamental economic relation and are likely to reduce the positive association (Evans et al. 2013). These manipulations become more plausible after the adoption of FSP FAS 157-4. The FASB relaxed the fair value accounting rules by releasing FASB Staff Position FSP FAS 157-4 on April 9, 2009. The Staff Position relaxed the preeminence of market-based fair value measurements in periods of market inactivity. Conditional on the existence of a significant decrease in volume or level of activity for an asset or a liability, a firm may rely on internally

generated projections instead of quoted prices from an inactive market. This change in the fair value accounting rules provides banks with more flexibility in making fair value estimates, but also increases the risk of manipulations by bank managers who desire to hide the poor performance of their investments.

Managers of banks with high funding liquidity needs, who are more likely to follow a risk shifting strategy, face intense scrutiny from capital providers and will be concerned with concealing the poor performance of their investment securities (Gron and Winton 2001). These banks are likely to manipulate their fair value estimates so as to minimize external monitoring. On the other hand, a risk arbitrage strategy that is more likely to characterize the behavior of banks with low funding liquidity needs, may entail holding illiquid securities for a relatively long time through the erosion of the liquidity crisis. Till the resolution of the liquidity crisis, illiquid securities held by banks with risk arbitraging incentives are likely to experience further losses. In order to avoid the damaging effects to their capital, these banks may use the flexibility in fair value accounting rules to conceal such losses. Both types of banks seem to have strong incentives to manipulate fair value estimates for their illiquid securities. These manipulations are likely to distort the positive association between fair value holding gains and losses and realized gains and losses. Consequently, my third hypothesis posits that for both types of banks, after FSP FAS 157-4 becomes effective, we observe a relative reduction in the positive association between unrealized fair value gains and losses of investment securities with future realized gains and losses.

I find evidence consistent with a reduction in the reliability of fair value measurements only for banks with high funding liquidity needs. I observe a significant

reduction in the predictive ability of the unrealized fair value gains and losses for available-for-sale securities following the adoption of FSP FAS 157-4. These banks take advantage of that discretion in addition to the incremental flexibility in fair value rules stemming from the adoption of FSP FAS 157-4. Overall, the evidence indicates that FSP FAS 157-4 resulted in less reliable fair value measurements for banks with high funding liquidity needs.

This study primarily contributes to a better understanding of the revisions in fair value accounting rules which chronologically coincided with the beginning of the financial crisis of 2007-2009. Numerous studies have provided evidence consistent with the additional disclosures introduced through SFAS 157 resulting in higher quality information available to market participants (Kolev 2009; Goh et al. 2009; Song et al. 2010; Barron et al. 2013). However, higher quality information for outsiders does not necessarily result in less risk taking by the firms. I provide evidence consistent with SFAS 157 enabling outsiders to constrain risk shifting for banks with high funding liquidity needs and stronger incentives to "gamble for resurrection"; on the other hand, SFAS 157 does not seem to constrain the investment choices of banks with low funding liquidity needs. I interpret this latter finding as evidence of risk arbitrage activities by these banks rather than risk shifting. My interpretation is based on both the theoretical expectations (Acharya and Viswanathan 2011; Ryan 2011; Diamond and Rajan 2011) and the subsequent finding that banks with low funding liquidity needs do not take advantage of the additional flexibility in fair value measurements resulting from the adoption of FSP FAS 157-4. Furthermore, these findings also provide evidence that a bank's risk shifting incentives also depend on its funding liquidity status. In the midst of the debate on the adoption of the Basel III regulatory framework which places a particular emphasis on banks' liquidity, my findings contribute to reinforcing the notion that sufficient liquidity may dampen excessive risk taking by banks.

My findings are complementary to those of Iselin and Nicoletti (2013). They examine the investment behavior of public and private banks around the adoption of SFAS 157. Following Riedl and Serafeim (2011), they provide evidence of a positive relation between public banks' cost of capital and their holdings of Level 3 assets. Consequently, compared to private banks, public banks have an incentive to minimize their holdings of Level 3 assets following the adoption of SFAS 157 which provides outsiders with more precise information about the extent of such holdings. They find evidence consistent with their hypothesis. I follow a slightly different approach in that I focus on cross-sectional differences within a sample of public banks which received government assistance during the crisis. While Iselin and Nicoletti (2013) focus on the bank's cost of capital as a driver of the decision to minimize holdings of Level 3 assets, I examine whether banks' purchases of high liquidity risk securities are driven by risk shifting or risk arbitrage incentives regardless of cost of capital considerations. Second, my analyses incorporate the possibility that the information improvements resulting from the adoption of SFAS 157 may have unintended consequences on banks' investment choices. Third, my sample period is different from theirs and I specifically exclude the year 2008 to minimize the effects of the financial crisis.

The findings of this study provide evidence on the importance of statement of cash flow information for an assessment of firm's risk. Most studies in the literature on value and risk relevance of accounting information relate market-based measures of value or risk to either income statement or balance sheet constructs. In this study, in addition to the end-of-year balance, I provide evidence that information from the statement of cash flows can help in assessing the risk implications of banks' investment decisions. Morgan (2002) notes that banks' trading asset positions are particularly slippery and their risk implications are difficult to assess using end-of-year balances. This is particularly relevant in the presence of strong risk shifting incentives as the bank may engage in "window dressing" at the end of every period. I provide evidence that it is necessary to evaluate how within period banks' investment choices affect the overall riskiness of their investment security portfolio.

The rest of the study is organized as follows. In Section 2, I provide a discussion of risk shifting incentives and develop hypotheses on the implications of higher quality fair value information for risk shifting in the banking industry. In Section 3, I provide the details about the research design. Section 4 is devoted to the presentation of results. I conclude the study with Section 5.

2. Risk Shifting Incentives

In this study, I examine whether and how fair value accounting rules play a role in either exacerbating or mitigating banks' incentives to engage in risk shifting. Risk shifting is a form of asset substitution resulting from the asymmetric payoff structures of debt and equity claims at highly levered firms (Jensen and Meckling 1976; Myers 1977). The managers and shareholders of highly levered firms substitute risky assets for safer ones as leverage and the probability of default increase. Risk shifting activities therefore result in a wealth transfer from creditors to shareholders.

The incentives to engage in risk shifting originate from the limited liability of shareholders of highly levered firms in the event of bankruptcy. Risk shifting incentives can be explained from the perspective of Merton (1974) on the capital structure of the firm. While shareholders hold a call option on the firm's assets, creditors are long on the firm's assets and short on the call option. The strike price of the call option is the face value of the debt. The value of the call option increases with the volatility of the cash flows of the investment project, leading the shareholders to prefer high risk investments. The shareholders of highly levered firms will only exercise the call option once the value of the firm's assets exceed the face value of the debt, thus absorbing all the benefits from investing in high risk projects and limiting their losses to their initial investment. On the other hand, the creditors' benefits are limited to the face value of the debt even though

they are fully exposed to decreases in the value of the firm's assets. This asymmetry in payoff structure is the source of an agency conflict which can lead shareholders and managers of highly levered firms to collude and invest in high risk projects at the detriment of creditors.

In the case of industrial firms, incidences of risk shifting are sparse because creditors can resort to price-protection mechanisms against risk shifting, resulting in shareholders bearing the cost of expected risk shifting (Harris and Raviv 1991; Eisdorfer 2008; Loktionov 2009). Convertible debt allows debtholders to share in the benefits of risky investment projects, thus reducing the gains accruing to shareholders from excessive risk taking, thus minimizing their incentives to engage in risk shifting (Green 1984). Secured debt contracts and other forms of debt covenants such as restrictions on investments and restrictions on disposition of assets also minimize risk shifting incentives by easing the transfer of control over the safer assets to debtholders (Smith and Warrner 1979). Debt contracts of shorter maturity provide debtholders with the opportunity to more frequently assess the riskiness of the firm's investments and set the contract terms accordingly (Barnea, Haugen and Senbet 1980).

Similarly, the agency conflicts between shareholders and debtholders from which risk shifting emanates could also be attenuated through managerial compensation contracts (John and John 1993). Managerial contracts with low pay-performance sensitivity serve as pre-commitment devices which enable debtholders to mitigate excessive risk taking that is encouraged by the shareholders of firms with high leverage.

The afore-mentioned mechanisms are more appropriate for non-financial firms.

The business model of financial firms is based on higher levels of leverage, resulting in stronger incentives for bank shareholders to encourage investment activities consistent with a risk shifting strategy.

2.1. Risk Shifting in the Banking Industry

Prior research identifies high levels of leverage and default risk as primary indicators of the existence of risk shifting incentives (Jensen and Meckling 1976; Smith and Warner 1979; Green and Talmor 1986; Brealey, Myers and Allen 2006; Eisdorfer 2008). Banks are characterized by much higher levels of leverage compared to firms in other industries. These high levels of leverage enable banks to optimally execute their liquidity provision and intermediation roles (DeAngelo and Stulz 2013). However, banks' leverage and exposure to financial distress exacerbate their incentives to engage in risk shifting. Allen and Gale (2000) note that the high levels of leverage lead to risky lending, which could fuel asset bubbles, and lead to banking crises, such as the 2007-2009 financial crisis. Relatedly Landier et al. (2011) analytically demonstrate and empirically document that risk shifting incentives are so prevalent in the financial services industry such that closeness to bankruptcy does not appear to be a necessary condition as is the case with non-financial firms.

Banks finance their activities using funds provided by equity holders, depositors, and other non-depository creditors. Duran and Lozano-Vivas (2013) develop of taxonomy of risk shifting in banking that depends on the group of stakeholders to which

bank shareholders shift risk. I focus on only two of the most prominent forms of the four types of risk shifting that they identify. First, doubled-sided risk shifting refers to situations where both depositors and non-depository creditors bear the cost of excessive risk taking. Second, deposit-based risk shifting focuses on risk shifting incentives associated with the availability of deposit insurance.

Numerous studies have examined the implications of deposit insurance as a source of risk shifting incentives in the banking industry. Merton (1977) notes that deposit insurance can be viewed as a put option written by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and held by banks' shareholders. The value of the put option increases with increases in the risk of the bank's assets and with increases in the bank's leverage. Consequently, the availability of deposit insurance leads banks' shareholders to prefer more than socially optimal levels of risk taking. Similarly, Kareken and Wallace (1978) analytically show that a deposit insurance scheme such as the one prevailing in the U.S. with the FDIC results in excessive risk taking by banks unless deposit insurance premiums depend on the riskiness of the bank's portfolio of assets. For deposit insurance premiums to fully capture the extent of risk taking, both regulators and creditors need to be fully informed about the composition of the bank's portfolio of assets.

The empirical evidence suggests the availability of deposit insurance creates and exacerbates risk shifting incentives. Using a sample of U.S. banks during the period 1985-1994, Hovakimiam and Kane (2000) find evidence consistent with banks extracting a deposit insurance subsidy, with risk shifting incentives due to deposit insurance being even stronger for weaker banks, and with the inability of regulators to eliminate risk shifting incentives through deposit insurance reform.

Cross-country studies provide an even more appropriate setting to examine the effects of deposit insurance on risk shifting incentives. Hovakimiam et al. (2003) documents a positive association between risk shifting incentives and explicit guarantees resulting from the introduction of deposit insurance in a sample of banks from 56 countries. Nevertheless, the extent to which banks extract deposit insurance subsidy depends on institutional features such as the existence loss-control features such risk-sensitive deposit insurance premiums, coverage limits and coinsurance.

Prudential regulation can be used to constrain risk shifting incentives in the banking industry. However, the effectiveness of prudential regulation depends on the quality of the information available to regulators. The repeated banking crises attest to the failure of prudential models in assessing the extent of risk taking by banks. Particularly, the central role banks play in the economy forces the authorities to relax the regulatory regime during periods of crisis in order to avoid generalized panics. Regulatory forbearance limits the ability of prudential regulation in constraining risk shifting incentives. Diamond and Rajan (2011) formalize this notion by analytically showing that following a fear of bank run due to the deterioration in banks' portfolio of assets, regulators could opt to stabilize the financial system through various liquidity improvement mechanisms.

In the presence of these strong risk shifting incentives, regulators and outsiders need additional sources of information to enable them to assess banks' risk exposures. In this study, I focus on how these stakeholders could acquire higher quality information about banks' risk exposures through investment securities. I take advantage of the regulatory change affecting the disclosure requirements for investment securities to

assess whether a change in the reporting environment for such instruments affects banks' risk shifting incentives⁹.

In the case of banks' investments securities, their opaque nature (Morgan 2002) makes it difficult for outsiders to assess the extent of banks' risk exposures. He et al. (2010) examine the movements of assets across various sectors of the financial industry during the financial crisis. While the hedge fund sector reduced their asset holdings, the commercial banking sector substantially increased their holdings of assets and relatedly their leverage. From the fourth quarter of 2007 to the first quarter of 2009, commercial banks' holding of investment securities went from 1,659 billion dollars to 1,774 billion dollars. One explanation for this increase in holdings of investment securities is the availability of implicit government guarantees. These government guarantees may have exacerbated banks' risk shifting incentives during this period.

In this study, I adopt an information perspective to evaluate whether a change in financial reporting rules influences the extent of risk shifting in the banking industry. I focus on risk shifting through investment securities, and I evaluate whether and how the changes in fair value accounting rules in 2006 affect banks' incentives to engage in risk shifting.

_

⁹ Banks can also engage in risk shifting through their lending activities. Landier et al. (2011) provide evidence of risk shifting through lending with an analysis of sub-prime originations by New Century Financial Corporation in the years preceding the financial crisis of 2008. In this study, I focus on the effects of SFAS No. 157 on banks' risk shifting incentives and SFAS No. 157 does not affect the disclosure requirements for loans held for investment, banks' most economically significant assets. In addition, banks' loan portfolios are not as volatile and slippery as their portfolios of investment securities. For those reasons, I restrict the analyses on the informational effects of SFAS No. 157 on banks' portfolios of investment securities.

2.2. Accounting Information and Risk Shifting Incentives

The debtholders-shareholders agency conflict can be resolved through various mechanisms among which is the disciplining and monitoring role of accounting information (Bushman and Smith 2001). Particularly, in the context of investment efficiency, accounting information can help in mitigating both over- and under-investment (Biddle and Hilary 2006; Biddle, Hilary, and Verdi 2009, Hong et al. 2013). Higher quality accounting information reduces the information asymmetry between the firm and capital providers, thus enabling financially constrained firms to fund positive net present value projects. At the same time, higher quality accounting information curtails managerial incentives to over-invest for empire-building reasons. The literature on the role of accounting conservatism in debt contracting provides evidence about the monitoring role of higher quality accounting information (Beatty et al. 2010; Loktionov 2009). Thus far, the literature on the role of accounting information in mitigating risk shifting incentives has focused on the effect of the quality of financial reporting on information asymmetry in general.

Closer to this study, Fernandez and Gonzalez (2005) examine the role played by a country's accounting and auditing systems on banks' risk shifting incentives. In the presence of regulatory safeguards aimed at minimizing the extent of risk shifting, it is not clear what role a country's accounting and external audit requirement can play. They find a negative relation between the stringency of a country's accounting and auditing systems and bank risk taking. However, this relation is weakened by banks' charter value. Furthermore, their results suggest the existence of a complementarity relation between accounting and auditing systems and minimum capital requirements. On the other hand,

accounting and auditing acts as substitutes for restrictions on banks' activities and official discipline. These findings provide macro-evidence indicating that banks' risk shifting incentives could be constrained through improvements in the financial reporting environment.

Also related to my study, Bushman and Williams (2012) examine whether the extent of risk shifting is related to the discretionary reporting behavior of banks in different reporting regimes. Higher transparency may help in curbing excessive risk taking. In a reporting regime encouraging forward-looking loan loss provisioning, accounting reports incorporate more information about future expected losses and mitigate pro-cyclicality. On the other hand a reporting regime encouraging opportunistic discretionary loan loss provisioning in the form of smoothing results in less transparent accounting reports. Using a sample of 27 countries, they find evidence indicating that banks in high smoothing regimes engage in more risk shifting compared to banks in high forward-looking discretionary loan loss provisioning.

Both Fernandez and Gonzalez (2005) and Bushman and Williams (2012) focus on a general approach to risk shifting. I specifically examine risk shifting through investment securities by examining the role accounting information plays in improving the liquidity of a bank's asset and its implications for risk shifting incentives.

2.3. Hypotheses Development: Fair Value Accounting and Risk Shifting Incentives

In 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 157, *Fair Value Measurements* (SFAS 157 hereafter) which became effective in 2008 (in the Accounting Codification, these rules are part of Topic ASC 820). When adopting SFAS 157, the standard setters mentioned the need to achieve consistency¹⁰ across standards and comparability across firms in the area of fair value measurements as some of the reasons for adopting SFAS 157. In Appendix C to the first version of SFAS No. 157, the FASB notes the following:

The Board believes that, in part, those concerns result because there is limited guidance for applying the fair value measurement objective in GAAP. The guidance that *currently exists has evolved piecemeal over time and is dispersed* among the accounting pronouncements that require fair value measurements. Differences in that guidance have created inconsistencies that have added to the complexity in GAAP. (Emphasis added).

The lack of consistency across standards is detrimental to the quality of reported accounting information. Wustemann and Wustemann (2010) note that achieving consistency across firms in the application of accounting rules presupposes the existence of internal consistency in the accounting standards themselves. In the case of fair value

According to the FASB, the standard's main purpose is to eliminate the inconsistencies associated with the use of fair value measurements in financial reporting. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 157, accounting pronouncements (SFAS No. 107, SFAS No. 115, and others) required the disclosure or recognition of many of a bank's assets and liabilities at fair value. However, there was not a unified framework for the determination and disclosure of these fair value estimates. In addition, the SEC Staff in its Report on mark-to-market accounting mandated by Section 133 of the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 pointed out that suspending SFAS No. 157 would result in inconsistent and sometimes conflicting guidance on fair value measurements.

measurements, and especially for many financial instruments, the existence of homogenous markets will imply that instruments of the same nature held by different banks should be measured similarly. However, the existence of inconsistencies across standards in the notion of fair value before the adoption of SFAS No. 157 may lead to cross-firm differences and over time differences in the relevance and reliability of these measurements. To achieve consistency in fair value measurements, SFAS 157 introduces a new definition of fair value which establishes the perspective of market participants as an essential principle for fair value measurements. In SFAS No. 157, fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (that is, an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.

SFAS 157 also introduced a new set of additional disclosures, the most prominent being the fair value hierarchy with the objectives of informing investors about the reliability of the fair value measurements. The fair value hierarchy requires firms to provide users of financial statements with information about the reliability of their fair value estimates by disclosing the level under which they fall. When the fair value is determined using prices quoted on active markets for identical assets, the fair value measurement falls under Level 1 of the hierarchy. Level 2 of the hierarchy is reserved for those measurements based on quoted prices other than from active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Finally, Level 3 is used when an unobservable input has been used to estimate fair value. This hierarchy of inputs allows firms to indicate the degree of reliability of their fair value measurements. The Level 1 inputs which reflect the directly

observable perspective of market participants are deemed the most reliable and the Level 3 inputs which incorporate the unobservable assumptions made by the reporting entity are considered the least reliable in the hierarchy. With this additional level of detail in the fair value disclosures, one should expect users of financial statements information to benefit from the expanded disclosures¹¹.

Numerous studies have documented overall positive effects for SFAS 157 on the quality of accounting information. As an example Kolev (2009), Goh, Ng, and Yong (2009) and Song, Yi and Thomas (2010) evaluate the value relevance of the expanded disclosures and provide evidence consistent with the fair value hierarchy being representative of a reliability ordering in fair value measurements. Reidl and Serafeim (2011) adopt a cost of capital perspective and examine whether the fair value hierarchy reflects an ordering in information uncertainty. They find evidence supporting the hypothesis that assets in higher levels of the fair value hierarchy suffer from lower information uncertainty than those in lower levels. Barron et al. (2013) examine the effects of SFAS 157 on analysts' information environment and show that the new disclosures improve the quality of information available to and produced by analysts. The findings from these studies indicate that SFAS 157 enables outsiders to at least distinguish between various classes of assets on a firm's balance sheet.

An improvement in information quality about banks' assets may result in dampened incentives to engage in risk shifting. Lu et al. (2011) examine the implications of fair value and historical cost accounting for banks' tradeoff between risk shifting and

-

¹¹ Appendices 1 through 3 provide some illustrations of the changes in fair value disclosures for financial instruments under SFAS 107, SFAS 115, and SFAS 157.

underinvestment. They analytically show that fair value accounting in comparison to historical cost accounting, mitigates risk shifting incentives by providing regulators with more timely signals about the quality of banks' assets. Their results are consistent with the view that fair value accounting provides a more accurate representation of banks' economic condition (Benston et al. 1986), and the general perspective of higher quality accounting information playing a monitoring role which constrains risk shifting. It is noteworthy to mention that Lu et al. (2011) focus on the differences between fair value accounting and historical cost accounting on the recognition of economic events in income and on the balance sheet. The changes in fair value accounting rules of 2008-2009 mainly affect the quality of accounting information through a disclosure channel. Nevertheless, the new set of disclosures provides outsiders with more detailed information about the distribution of risk in the bank's portfolio of investment securities.

Burkhardt and Strausz (2006) adopt a different perspective when it comes to the improved transparency about banks' assets and risk shifting incentives. They maintain the assumption of frictionless markets adopted by Lu et al. (2011) and they analytically demonstrate that the reduction in information asymmetry associated with using fair value accounting instead of historical cost accounting can exacerbate banks' risk shifting incentives. Their analyses focus on the informational superiority of fair value accounting over historical cost accounting from a disclosure standpoint. This is consistent with the improvements in disclosure quality resulting from the adoption of SFAS 157. More transparent accounting information leads to substantial improvements in the market liquidity of the low liquidity risk assets held by the bank. The improved disclosure quality attenuates the "lemons" problem for these high quality assets. Consequently,

higher asset liquidity aggravates the risk of asset substitution by reducing the bank's incentive to commit to a particular trading strategy when its balance sheet is made up of highly liquid assets (Dewatripont and Tirole 1994; Freixas and Rochet 1997; Myers and Rajan 1998; Morgan 2002). Essentially improved accounting information has perverse implications captured by Myers and Rajan (1998) through what they call the "Paradox of Liquidity".

If we relax the assumption of frictionless markets for the banks' assets, it is still not obvious that the improvement in the quality of accounting information will result in dampened risk shifting incentives. O'Hara (1993) shows that mark-to-market accounting introduces a valuation bias against long-term illiquid assets, which leads banks to engage in a myopic behavior of investing in short-term assets which are more exposed to liquidity shocks due to the constant search for refinancing. Relatedly, Diamond and Rajan (2011) examine the behavior of solvent and distressed banks during a liquidity crisis. They show that in the presence of pricing difficulties due to shocks to liquidity, timely signals are not available to regulators, thus leading both solvent and distressed banks to hold on to and acquire illiquid securities. The distressed banks' behavior is consistent with risk shifting, whereas that of solvent banks is consistent with illiquidity arbitrage (Ryan 2011). However, both behaviors result in further investment in risky securities and are related to the inability of fair value accounting to adequately account for liquidity risk. Given that improved fair value accounting may result in either more or less risk shifting, I formulate my first hypothesis in null form:

H1: SFAS 157 does not alter the extent of risk shifting activity by banks

It is necessary to mention at this point that the chronological proximity between the financial crisis of 2007-2009 and the effective date of SFAS 157 substantially affect my ability to extract the effects of SFAS 157 on banks' risk shifting incentives. I may document a reduction in risk shifting following SFAS 157 simply because banks were forced to unwind their risky positions in non-agency mortgage backed securities and other risky investment securities as the crisis hit. To cross this hurdle, I rely on the interaction between risk shifting incentives and the probability of government intervention during the crisis.

From a theoretical perspective, banks' risk shifting incentives during the crisis may not have dramatically changed compared to the pre-crisis period because of the expectation of regulatory forbearance (Diamond and Rajan 2011). Conscious of their systemic importance and of the systemic risk shifting (Acharya 2009) prevalent in the industry, some banks may not substantially alter their strategy of undertaking risky investments. Duchin and Sosyura (2012, 2013) provide initial answers consistent with this moral hazard perspective. First Duchin and Sosyura (2012) find that politically connected banks are more likely to receive government support (through the Capital Purchase Program instituted under the Troubled Asset Relief Program), but their investments underperform those of unconnected banks. Second, Duchin and Sosyura (2013) obtain evidence that banks used the funds from the Capital Purchase Program (CPP)¹² to make risky loans and invest in risky securities. Particularly, they document an ex-post increase in loan charge-offs and an increase in market perception of the banks'

-

¹² In September 2007 the U.S. Treasury proposed the TARP program which was initially designed to allow the purchase of illiquid assets from financial institutions. After numerous political deliberations, the TARP program was made effective through the Economic Emergency Stabilization Act of 2008. Its most prominent feature consisted in the U.S. Treasury injecting capital in financial institutions through the CPP

risk through higher stock volatility, beta, and default risk. Based on this evidence, it is not entirely clear that finding a reduction in risk shifting after the adoption of SFAS 157 can be entirely attributed to the financial crisis of 2007-2009.

I then proceed to perform more refined analyses of the changes in risk shifting incentives following the changes in the fair value accounting rules. More precisely, I examine the implications of funding liquidity risk for risk shifting incentives. As noted earlier, risk shifting incentives can emerge from the shareholder-debtholder agency conflict (Jensen and Meckling 1976). On average, compared to their industrial counterparts, banks and other financial institutions experience higher levels of leverage. During turbulent economic times a bank's exposure to funding liquidity risk is an indication of its degree of leverage and its ability to withstand severe liquidity shocks ¹³. As noted by Brunermeier and Pedersen (2009), a market maker's ability to enable trading in particular assets depends on, and also affects its funding liquidity. At the extreme, banks may resort to the market for the repurchase agreements (repo markets hereafter) as a source of liquidity. Increased reliance on the repo markets reflects a more vulnerable liquidity position for the bank. Depending on a bank's funding liquidity status, two possible investment strategies could take place.

Risk shifting incentives are more pronounced for banks with high funding liquidity needs. An already illiquid bank may acquire even more illiquid securities because of an incentive to "gamble for resurrection" (Diamond and Rajan 2011;

_

¹³ The Basel III regulatory framework introduced in 2011 places a particular emphasis on bank's liquidity from both a short-term and a long-term perspective. It requires a bank to hold sufficient liquid assets so as to withstand a 30-day period of severe short-term liquidity shocks. Basel III introduced the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) as a measure of short-term liquidity strength. On a long-term basis, a banks' liquidity strength is evaluated using the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR). This is to ensure that a bank has enough liquidity to survive an extended closure of wholesale funding markets.

Brunermeier and Oehmke 2013). The shareholders of such a bank have weak incentives to liquidate their current position to satisfy the claims of creditors. These shareholders of weakly funded banks may encourage holding or investing in more illiquid securities expecting to maximize their returns if they emerge from the liquidity shock. In addition, risk shifting can also serve the interests of the managers of banks with high funding liquidity needs. Akerlof and Romer (1993) and Boyd and Hakenes (2014) analytically show that risk shifting activities encouraged by banks' shareholders can be used by bank managers for looting purposes. The recent evidence from the financial crisis of 2008 corroborates their conclusions. There is convincing empirical evidence on the positive association between excess managerial compensation and poor performance during the financial crisis (Bhagat and Bolton 2014), suggesting mutual reinforcement between risk shifting and managerial looting. Consequently, I expect the new set of disclosures provided by banks because of SFAS 157 to help the outsiders of such banks in constraining the strong risk shifting incentives at play.

H2a: SFAS 157 mitigates the extent to which banks with high funding liquidity needs invest in high liquidity risk securities.

On the other hand, for banks with low funding liquidity needs, they may invest in securities whose prices reflect liquidity discounts for reasons other than risk shifting incentives. During the 2007-2009 crisis, most securities' prices include a liquidity discount because of the systematic component of liquidity risk. Large financial institutions with sufficient funding may take advantage of such a situation by investing in cheap high liquidity risk securities during a liquidity crisis and selling those securities progressively as the liquidity crisis gets resolved. Sadka (2012) provides evidence of this

behavior in the hedge fund industry. Using a macro-approach, He et al. (2010) show that during the crisis, while the hedge fund and broker/dealer sectors of the financial services industry engaged in deleveraging through asset sales, those assets ended up on the balance sheets of the commercial banks with sufficient funding liquidity. This risk arbitrage strategy (Diamond and Rajan 2011; Ryan 2011) will not be as detrimental to the banks' outsiders as a risk shifting strategy. The banks' buffer of liquidity levels provide outsiders with an assurance that their claims will be met on time. Consequently, the banks' investment strategy may remain unaffected even in the presence of the more informative disclosures introduced by SFAS 157.

H2b: SFAS 157 has no effect on the extent of investment in high liquidity risk securities for banks with low funding liquidity needs.

Thus far, I have examined the effects of SFAS 157 on risk shifting incentives through its implications for the transparency of the bank's overall portfolio of investment securities. However, in April 2009 the FASB introduced the FASB Staff Position FSP FAS 157-4 to help preparers in determining fair value when the volume and level of activity in the markets have significantly decreased and to identify transactions that are not orderly. The following represent some of the factors used to identify such conditions:

(a) Few recent transactions, (b) price quotations that are not based on current information, (c) price quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers (for example, some brokered markets), (d) indexes that previously were highly correlated with the fair values of the asset or liability are demonstrably uncorrelated with recent indications of fair value for that asset or liability, (e) significant increases in implied

liquidity risk premiums, yields, or performance indicators (such as delinquency rates or loss severities) for observed transactions or quoted prices when compared with the reporting entity's estimate of expected cash flows, considering all available market data about credit and other nonperformance risk for the asset or liability, (f) there is a wide bid-ask spread or significant increase in the bid-ask spread, (g) there is a significant decline or absence of a market for new issuances (that is, a primary market) for the asset or liability or similar assets or liabilities, (h) little information is released publicly (for example, a principal-to-principal market).

FSP FAS 157-4, considered by many as a relaxation of fair value rules, provides significantly more flexibility to preparers (Bhat et al. 2011). The new guidance enables a bank to use its own assumptions (Level 3) in lieu of quoted prices (Level 1 and Level 2) which are deemed unreliable because of poor market conditions. Level 3 fair values are substantially more subject to managerial discretion and banks with strong incentives to hide poor performance could resort to manipulating these fair value measurements.

Banks with an overhang of risky and illiquid securities from the pre-crisis period have an incentive to use the discretion in fair value rules to conceal losses on their prior investments in high liquidity risk securities (Gron and Winton 2001). Banks with liquidity constraints may rely on the flexibility from FSP FAS 157-4 to avoid the scrutiny from capital providers and regulators. Banks without liquidity constraints on the other hand may have to hold their illiquid securities for a relatively long time through the erosion of the liquidity crisis. Till the resolution of the liquidity crisis, these illiquid securities are likely to experience further losses. In order to avoid the damaging effects to

their capital, these banks may also use the flexibility in fair value accounting rules to conceal such losses.

The efforts by both types of banks to hide the poor performance of their investment decisions may have detrimental implications for the predictive ability of reported accounting numbers. Banks are required to disclose the difference between the fair value and historical cost of their investment securities. This difference referred to as accumulated fair value gains or losses has a predictive value for future interest income (for interest-bearing securities), realized gains and losses, and future cash flows from the securities (Ryan 2007; Evans et al. 2013). Accumulated fair value gains (losses) reflect a decrease (increase) in the market return for comparably risky securities. A security with a return above (below) the market return records an increase (decrease) in its fair value. The recorded increase (decrease) in fair value compared to historical cost represents the opportunity benefit (cost) of holding a security with higher (lower) future interest income, thus the positive association between accumulated fair value gains and losses and future interest income. Similarly, the accumulated fair value holding and losses are positively related to future realized gains and losses and future cash flows from investment securities as management may decide to cash in or liquidate their positions.

The reliability of the difference between a security's fair value and historical cost depends on the precision of the fair value measurement. Evans et al. (2013) show that higher measurement errors in fair value estimates reduce the predictive value of accumulated fair value gains and losses. Similarly, manipulations of the fair value estimates are likely to negatively affect the predictive value of accumulated fair value gains and losses. An overstated fair value will not materialize as either future interest

income or future realized gains and losses and cash flows. Accordingly, for both types of banks, the manipulation of their fair value estimates to hide their poor performance will result in a reduction in the predictive ability of their accumulated fair value gains and losses for future realized gains and losses.

H3: Post-FSP FAS 157-4, there is a reduction in the predictive value of accumulated fair value gains and losses of investment securities held by banks with both high and low funding liquidity needs.

3. Research Design

3.1. Sample Selection and Data

My sample comprises the largest hundred publicly traded bank holding companies which obtained financial support through the CPP and which also survived from 2004 to 2012. I focus on banks receiving CPP support in order to minimize the effects of the financial crisis on risk shifting incentives. With the prospect of receiving CPP funds, these banks may not totally alter their investment strategy as they expect regulatory forbearance. For these banks, from the statement of cash flows, I collect annual information about their purchases of their investment securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity¹⁴. I obtain the other financial statement information from their regulatory FRY 9-C filings. I collect stock price information from the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP).

Funding liquidity constraints represent a central aspect of this study. In Acharya and Viswanathan (2011), a bank's ability to maintain adequate levels of funding liquidity determines its propensity to engage in risk arbitrage or risk shifting. To operationalize the exposure to funding liquidity shocks, I follow Bordeleau and Graham (2010) and

_

¹⁴ Information about banks' activities with respect to their portfolio of investment securities is available from the regulatory filings. However, the reported numbers are aggregated and do not permit the distinction between securities in the available-for-sale portfolio and those in the held-to-maturity portfolio. There are substantial differences in terms of risk, maturities, and other factors across these two portfolios. Nevertheless, in the robustness analyses, I use a larger sample based on the availability of machine-readable data.

compute a bank's net reliance on repurchase agreements. Banks can obtain (provide) financing from selling (buying) securities with an agreement to repurchase (resell). Strong reliance on this source of financing exposes the banks to shocks in the market for short-term funds and can lead to the bank's demise as was the case with Lehman Brothers in the fall of 2008. I classify banks with an above median net liability position on repurchase agreements as low funding liquidity (banks with risk shifting incentives) banks, and banks with a below median net liability position on repurchase agreements as high funding liquidity banks (banks with risk arbitrage incentives). I restrict the pre-SFAS 157 period to fiscal years 2004 to 2007. The post-SFAS 157 period starts in 2009 and ends in 2012. With respect to FSP FAS 157-4, the delineating year is 2009, the year of adoption and effectiveness of the pronouncement. I delete observations with missing data for the variables in the econometric models. My final sample spans the period 2004-2012 and consists of 686 observations.

3.2. Econometric models

The literature on risk shifting relates the volatility (risk) of a firm's assets to the change in its investments. In the case of banks, since deposit insurance is an important determinant of risk shifting incentives most studies examine the extent of risk shifting through the relation between deposit insurance premium and a bank's leverage and volatility of returns. Ronn and Verman (1986), Duan et al. (1992), Hovakimiam and Kane (2000) Hovakimiam et al. (2003) and Bushman and Williams (2012) start their analyses using the following specification:

$$IPP = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 \sigma_V + \gamma_2 B/_V + \varepsilon_1 (1),$$

Where:

IPP = Deposit insurance premium per dollar of deposit and that is sensitive to bank risk

 σ_V = The standard deviation of asset returns

B = The face value of deposits and other debt

V = The market value of a bank's assets

Under this this framework, a bank's cost of deposit insurance is increasing in both the riskiness of the bank's assets and its leverage. Banks' risk shifting incentives stem from their joint choice of leverage and asset risk subject to the monitoring by insured and uninsured creditors. Equation (1) can then be decomposed into a system of simultaneous equations reflecting this joint choice:

$$B/_V = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \sigma_V + \varepsilon_2(2)$$

$$IPP = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \sigma_V + \varepsilon_3(3)$$

Substituting equation (2) into equation (3) allows a full consideration of the tension faced by bank shareholders who have an incentive to take on more risk as leverage increases, but also face the constraints of deposit insurance premiums which are positively related to the degree of risk taking. This econometric specification results in an estimation of the relation between risk shifting and alternative deposit insurance contracts. Hovakimiam and Kane (2000) adopt it to evaluate the changes in risk shifting following reforms to deposit insurance regulation in the U.S. setting. Hovakimiam et al. (2003) and Bushman and Williams (2012) use the same specification or some variants in their examination of risk shifting across different countries with some variations in deposit insurance regulations.

To conduct a within-country study absent a change in deposit insurance regulation, I follow the approaches proposed by Eisdorfer (2008) and Loktionov (2009). With the sparse evidence on risk shifting in non-financial industries, Eisdorfer (2008) relies on the theoretical negative relation between investment intensity and uncertainty. From a real options perspective, the value of delaying investments increases with the degree of uncertainty about the payoffs of the project. In the case of financially distressed firms, he analytically shows and empirically tests the proposition that financial distress weakens the negative relation between investment intensity and uncertainty. The shareholders of financially distressed firms consider the increase in uncertainty as an opportunity to invest in even riskier projects with a potential for even higher returns, thus strengthening their risk shifting incentives. The specification from Eisdofer (2008) suffers from the difficulty of finding a suitable proxy for uncertainty which is independent of the firm's decisions. In order to avoid this pitfall, I rely on the approach of Shrieves and Dahl (1992) and Duran and Lozano-Vivas (2013) to directly relate a measure of bank risktaking to some measure of investment intensity.

I conduct my analyses by examining how a bank's purchases of investment securities affect the banks' liquidity risk. I relate the change in a bank's liquidity beta to measures of the bank's activities in its portfolio of investment securities. A bank's liquidity beta reflects the sensitivity of the bank's stock returns to fluctuations in aggregate liquidity (Pastor and Stambaugh 2003; Amihud et al. 2005). I test H1 and H2 using the following model:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Delta\beta^L}_{it} &= b_0 + b_1 \operatorname{Purch_afs}_{i,t} + b_2 \operatorname{Purch_htm}_{i,t} + b_3 \operatorname{Afs}_{i,t-1} + b_4 \operatorname{Htm}_{i,t-1} \\ &+ b_5 \beta^L_{i,t-1} + b_6 \operatorname{Size}_{i,t-1} + c_1 \operatorname{Repo}_{i,t} + c_2 \operatorname{Repo} * \operatorname{Purch_afs}_{i,t} \\ &+ c_3 \operatorname{Repo} * \operatorname{Purch_htm}_{i,t} + d_1 \operatorname{Post}_{i,t} + d_2 \operatorname{Post} * \operatorname{Purch_afs}_{i,t} \\ &+ d_3 \operatorname{Post} * \operatorname{Purch_htm}_{i,t} + e_1 \operatorname{Repo} * \operatorname{Post}_{i,t} \\ &+ e_2 \operatorname{Repo} * \operatorname{Post} * \operatorname{Purch_afs}_{i,t} + e_3 \operatorname{Repo} * \operatorname{Post} * \operatorname{Purch_htm}_{i,t} \\ &+ \varepsilon_{i,t} \end{aligned}$$

where, for bank i, in period t:

 $Delta\beta^{L}$ = Change in liquidity beta from year t-1 to year t

Purchases of investment securities classified as available-for-sale (AFS) scaled by

Purch_afs = beginning total assets

Purchases of investment securities classified as held-to-maturity (HTM)scaled by

Purch_htm = beginning total assets

 β^L = Liquidity beta

An indicator variable that equals 1 if the observation refers to a bank with net

Repo = liability position in repurchase financing above median and zero otherwise

An indicator variable that equals 1 if the observation belongs to the fiscal period =

after 12/31/2007, and zero otherwise

Size = Natural logarithm of total assets

Model (4) focuses on the effects of purchases of investment securities on the change in liquidity beta. I estimate a bank's liquidity beta following Pastor and Stambaugh (2003). I obtain the series of monthly innovations in liquidity from Lubos Pastor's

website at The University of Chicago. I obtain the series of Fama-French Factors (Rm-Rf, SMB, and HML) from Kenneth French's website at Dartmouth College. I use rolling monthly regressions of the following model to estimate bank-specific monthly liquidity betas:

$$(R_{i,t} - r_{f,t}) = a_0 + \beta^L L_t + \beta_1 (R_{m,t} - r_{f,t}) + \beta_2 SMB_t + \beta_3 HML_t + \mu_{i,t}$$
 (5)

where, for bank i, in month t:

 $(R_{i,t} - r_{f,t})$ = The bank's monthly stock return minus the risk-free rate of return

 L_t = Monthly innovations in market liquidity

 $(R_{m,t} - r_{f,t})$ = Market's monthly return minus the risk-free rate of return

SMB = Size factor

HML = Value factor

In Model (4), a positive (negative) association between $Delta\beta^L$ and $Purch_afs$ indicates a shift towards securities with higher (lower) liquidity risk, ultimately resulting in an increase in the banks' overall liquidity risk. H1 predicts that SFAS 157 has no effect on the risk shifting behavior of banks. Should their investment strategies be different following SFAS 157, I expect the coefficients d_2 and d_3 to be different from zero. Positive (negative) coefficients indicate that the information effects of SFAS 157 result in mitigated (exacerbated) risk shifting incentives.

H2a and H2b examine whether the effects of SFAS 157 on investment in high liquidity risk securities vary by type of bank. For banks with liquidity constraints, they face stronger scrutiny from regulators and other creditors, thus reinforcing the monitoring role of SFAS 157 and leading to a stronger reduction in risk shifting compared to banks

without liquidity constraints. A stronger reduction in risk shifting incentives for banks with liquidity constraints will translate into negative coefficients e_2 , and e_3 .

H3 examines the predictive ability of banks' accumulated fair value gains and losses on investment securities. Following Evans et al. (2013), I estimate the following models:

$$\begin{split} \sec _inc_{i,t+1} &= \delta_0 + \delta_1 diff_afs_{i,t} + \delta_2 diff_htm_{i,t} + \delta_3 \sec _inc_{i,t-1} + \delta_4 purch_afs_{i,t} \\ &+ \delta_5 purch_htm_{i,t} + \delta_6 repo_{i,t} + \delta_7 repo * diff_afs_{i,t} \\ &+ \delta_8 repo * diff_htm_{i,t} + \delta_9 post_{i,t} + \delta_{10} post * repo_{i,t} \\ &+ \delta_{11} post * diff_afs_{i,t} + \delta_{12} post * diff_htm_{i,t} \\ &+ \delta_{13} post * repo * diff_afs_{i,t} + \delta_{14} post * repo * diff_htm_{i,t} \\ &+ \delta_{15} Size_{i,t} + \xi_{i,t} \ (6) \end{split}$$

$$\sum_{\tau=1}^{3} \sec_{-inc_{i,t+\tau}}$$

$$= \delta_{0} + \delta_{1} diff_{-} afs_{i,t} + \delta_{2} diff_{-} htm_{i,t} + \delta_{3} sec_{-} inc_{i,t-1}$$

$$+ \delta_{4} purch_{-} afs_{i,t} + \delta_{5} purch_{-} htm_{i,t} + \delta_{6} repo_{i,t} + \delta_{7} repo * diff_{-} afs_{i,t}$$

$$+ \delta_{8} repo * diff_{-} htm_{i,t} + \delta_{9} post_{i,t} + \delta_{10} post * repo_{i,t}$$

$$+ \delta_{11} post * diff_{-} afs_{i,t} + \delta_{12} post * diff_{-} htm_{i,t}$$

$$+ \delta_{13} post * repo * diff_{-} afs_{i,t} + \delta_{14} post * repo * diff_{-} htm_{i,t}$$

$$+ \delta_{15} Size_{i,t} + \xi_{i,t} (7)$$

where, for bank i:

The sum of one-year-ahead realized and unrealized gains and losses on

 $\sec _inc_{i,t+1}$ = investment securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity scaled by beginning historical cost of available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities

The difference between the fair values and historical costs of investment

 $diff_afs_{i,t}$ = securities classified as available-for-sale maturity scaled by beginning historical

cost of available-for-sale securities

The difference between the fair values and historical costs of investment

 $diff_htm_{i,t}$ = securities classified as held-to-maturity scaled by beginning historical cost of held-to-maturities securities

Models (6) and (7) relate future income on investment securities to the end of year difference between the securities' fair values and historical costs (unrealized holding gains and losses). Consistent with differences in holding horizons across banks, I estimate three models with the dependent variable being the income from investment securities at t+1, the sum of income from investment securities at t+1 and t+2, and the sum of income from investment securities at t+1 and t+2, and the sum of income

In the cross-section, a positive association between unrealized holding losses (gains) and future income from investment securities reflects the opportunity costs (benefits) of holding securities which currently underperform (outperform) market's expectations for similarly risky securities. This positive association could be detrimentally affected by measurement errors in the reported fair value numbers. Banks experiencing losses on their investment securities may attempt to conceal their losses through the flexibility in fair value measurement resulting from the adoption of FSP FAS 157-4.

H3 examines the change in the predictive ability of accumulated fair value gains and losses of investment securities held by banks from pre- to post-FSP FAS 157-4. I test this hypothesis for banks without (with) liquidity constraints by examining whether the coefficients $\delta_{11} (\delta_{11} + \delta_{13})$ and $\delta_{12} (\delta_{12} + \delta_{14})$ are different from zero.

4. Results

4.1. Descriptive Statistics and Univariate Comparisons

<Insert Table 1>

Panels A, B, and C of Table 1 present descriptive statistics and univariate comparisons for the variables used in Models (4) through (7). On average, banks with high funding liquidity needs outsize banks with low funding liquidity needs. However, these differences are reversed at the level of the portfolio of investment securities. The banks with low funding liquidity needs devote a substantially larger portion of their assets to both AFS and HTM securities (21.1 percent versus 15 percent for AFS and 3.5 percent versus 2.1 percent for HTM). These findings are consistent with prior literature. Nissim and Penman (2007) report that investment securities measured at fair value (available-for-sale securities) represent 19 percent of total assets for large bank holding companies. Banks with low funding liquidity needs seem to experience a higher level of activity in their portfolio of investment securities compared to banks with high funding liquidity needs. During the year, their purchases of AFS (HTM) securities represent 21.3 (1.4) percent of their beginning balance in the portfolio compared to 9.2 (0.7) percent for the banks with high funding liquidity needs. This difference in the intensity of purchases suggests a higher trading intensity for banks with low funding liquidity needs. A liquidity arbitrage strategy based on within-quarter changes in the holdings of the banks requires a

high trading intensity as exhibited by these banks. It is noteworthy to mention that I do not observe any statistically significant difference in liquidity beta for these two types of banks. This is consistent with the time-varying nature of liquidity beta (Pastor and Stambaugh 2003). From the correlation matrix in Table 2, there are substantial differences across the two types of banks in terms of the relation between liquidity beta and the other variables. In the case of banks with low funding liquidity needs, I only observe a positive correlation with *purch_afs* and *sec_inc*. The positive association with *purch_afs* suggests that on average these banks invest in riskier securities compared to their current holdings. The positive association with *sec_inc* follows up as it indicates that those banks may be experiencing more volatility in their realized and unrealized fair value gains and losses.

In the case of banks with high funding liquidity needs, besides the negative correlation coefficient with the *afs*, there is a positive association between the banks' liquidity beta and almost all the other variables. Particularly interesting are the positive correlation coefficients for *purch_afs*, *sec_inc*, *diff_afs*, *diff_htm*, and *diff_sec*. They all seem to suggest that banks with high funding liquidity needs follow a riskier investment strategy which results in more volatility in their financial statements balances.

<Insert Table 2>

4.2. Regression Results

4.2.1. SFAS 157 and risk shifting incentives

<Insert Table 3>

H1 examine the pre- to post-SFAS 157 change risk shifting. SFAS 157 provides more precise information about the riskiness of the investment securities in the banks' portfolio. On one hand, more precise information results in increased liquidity for the high quality securities of the bank. The increased liquidity for the bank's assets exacerbates risk shifting incentives as the bank now has access to a larger set of investment opportunities. On the other hand, SFAS 157 may mitigate banks' risk shifting incentives by providing outsiders with more timely signals about the quality of the bank's assets.

Table 3 presents the results for the test of H1. In column (1), I estimate the risk shifting model without considering the effects of SFAS 157. The positive and statistically significant coefficients b_1 (0.065, p-value <0.001) and b_2 (0.35, p-value = 0.017) indicate that on average, during the period 2004-2012, for both the AFS and HTM portfolios, banks invest in securities with higher liquidity risk compared to their current holdings.

Column (2) breaks down the results between the pre- and post-SFAS 157 periods. The lack of statistical significance on the coefficients d_2 (-0.03, p-value = 0.376) and d_3 (0.054, p-value = 0.925) is consistent with the failing to rejecting the null H1 that SFAS 157 has no effect on risk shifting through investment securities. One explanation for these findings is that risk shifting incentives vary by type of banks. As noted earlier risk shifting incentives may be affected by the leverage position of the bank, by regulatory pressures, and numerous other factors. For these reasons, it is necessary to perform cross-

sectional analyses on this sample to examine the differential implications of SFAS 157 on risk shifting for various types of banks.

4.2.2. Funding liquidity and the effects of SFAS 157 on investment in high liquidity risk securities

<Insert Table 4>

H2a and H2b examine the cross-sectional variations on the implications of SFAS 157 for banks' investment decisions. More precisely, an investment in high liquidity risk securities may reflect a risk shifting strategy or a risk arbitrage strategy depending on the bank's funding liquidity status. H2a predicts that the more informative fair value disclosures introduced through SFAS 157 mitigates the incentives to invest in high liquidity risk securities for banks with high funding liquidity needs. On the other hand, H2b predicts that these disclosures do not affect the investment choices of banks with low funding liquidity needs.

In these analyses, the pre-SFAS 157 period corresponds to a boom period in the banking industry with excessive risk-taking by most banks. In order to minimize the effects of the financial crisis, I choose the post-SFAS 157 period to start in 2009. In column (1) of Table 4, I present the results for the full sample period without consideration for the effects of SFAS 157. The results indicate that banks with low (high) funding liquidity needs invest in high (low) liquidity risk securities as evidenced by the positive (negative) coefficients b_1 (0.36, p-value = 0.02) and c_2 (-0.3, p-value = 0.05).

These full sample analyses indicate that the monitoring pressures faced by banks with high funding liquidity needs outweigh their incentives to "double down" on risk taking.

Column (2) presents the results of the differential effects of SFAS 157 for the two groups of banks. In the pre-SFAS 157 period, the positive coefficients b_1 (0.16, p-value = 0.04) and c_3 (1.71, p-value = 0.07) indicate a propensity for both types of banks to invest in high risk securities. However, the two types of banks differ in their strategies. While the banks with low funding liquidity needs invest in high risk securities through their AFS portfolio, the banks with high funding liquidity needs use their HTM portfolio. The reliance on the HTM (AFS) portfolio by banks with high (low) funding liquidity needs banks is consistent with a risk shifting (arbitrage) behavior. By classifying securities as HTM, banks with high funding liquidity needs have the opportunity to conceal the unrealized fair value losses on these high risk securities since securities classified as HTM are accounted for at historical cost. On the other hand, the low funding liquidity banks use the AFS classification because they intend to maintain a more active investment strategy of purchasing securities at a discount during a liquidity crisis and being able to sell them as the liquidity crisis vanishes away.

Looking at the effects of SFAS 157 on this investment behavior confirms the explanation of risk shifting versus risk arbitrage. The positive coefficients d_2 (0.21, p-value <0.001) and negative coefficient e_3 (-0.39, p-value = 0.07) indicate that SFAS 157 results in information improvements that facilitates (curtails) the investment in risky securities for banks with low (high) funding liquidity needs.

4.2.3. Relaxation of Fair Value Accounting Rules and The Predictive Ability of Fair Value for Future Financial Performance

<Insert Table 5>

H3 examines the predictive ability of accumulated fair value gains and losses on investment securities around the relaxation of fair value accounting rules through the adoption of FSP Fas 157-4. As noted by prior studies (Huizinga and Laeven 2012) banks may use their discretion to conceal the poor quality of their investments. This is particularly relevant for banks with high funding liquidity needs as the tests of H2 suggest that they rely on the HTM classification to engage in risk shifting. FSP FAS 157-4 makes it easier for banks to use their discretion in fair value measurements to avoid reporting unrealized losses on their investment portfolios. Doing so may result in less reliable fair value measurements.

I test H3 by estimating Models (6) and (7) and by examining whether the coefficients δ_{11} (δ_{11} + δ_{13}) and δ_{12} (δ_{12} + δ_{14}) are statistically significantly different from zero. Panel A, B, and C of Table 5 respectively provides the results for the analyses using the one-year-ahead, the sum of one- and two-year-ahead, and the sum of one-, two-, and three-year-ahead income on investment securities. In all three panels and all three specifications, the positive coefficients δ_1 and δ_7 confirm the predictive ability of current unrealized gains and losses on AFS securities for future realized and unrealized fair value gains and losses on AFS securities (Evans et al. 2013). On the other hand, for HTM securities, the current unrealized gains and losses do not seem to be reliably associated with future realized and unrealized fair value gains and losses. In the case of banks with low funding liquidity needs, δ_2 is positive and significant in only one specification (Panel

B, column 3). For banks with high funding liquidity needs, it is even worse as δ_8 is negative and significant in most specifications. These results suggest that the unrealized gains and losses on HTM securities suffer from substantial estimation errors or manipulations which detrimentally affect their reliability. This effect is concentrated in banks with high funding liquidity needs. Since the tests of H2 also showed that these banks are more likely to engage in risk shifting through their HTM portfolio, I can conclude that these banks are more likely to rely on the discretion in fair value rules to conceal their poor investment choices.

To examine whether banks use the additional discretion in fair value measurements embedded in FSP-FAS 157-4, I focus on column (3) in Panels A, B, and C. For banks with low funding liquidity needs, the non-statistical significance of the coefficients δ_{11} and δ_{12} in all three panels indicates that FSP-FAS 157-4 does not result in a change in the reliability of the fair value measurements of these banks. On the other hand, in all three panels, δ_{13} is negative and statistically significant, indicating a decrease in the reliability of fair value measurements for the AFS portfolio of banks with high funding liquidity needs. These findings indicate that banks with high funding liquidity needs take advantage of the flexibility in fair value measurements resulting from the adoption of FSP FAS 157-4 to conceal their losses.

4.3. Sensitivity Analyses

One concern in the preceding analyses is that they may capture an industry-wide or time-related change in investment behavior which may not be related to the changes in fair value disclosure rules. To alleviate this concern, I adopt two approaches. The first one is to consider whether the effect of the bank's loan portfolio on the bank's liquidity risk. Loans held for investment are accounted for at amortized cost and represent the largest assets of a typical bank holding company. A change in fair value accounting rules should not affect these loans. I therefore examine whether there is change in the association between the bank's liquidity risk and its holdings of loans.

I re-estimate Model (4) in Table 6 with an additional control for the change in loans held for investment scaled by total assets. The results in both Panels A and B indicate that from the pre- to post-SFAS 157, there is no difference in the effect of banks' loan portfolio on the bank's liquidity risk. Furthermore, when comparing the effects of investment securities to those of loans, we observe in Panel B that in the pre-SFAS 157 period, banks with high funding liquidity needs invest in high liquidity risk securities, but that is not the case for the new loans they make. These loans have the same impact on the banks' liquidity risk as the loans made in earlier periods. In the post-SFAS 157 period, banks with high funding liquidity needs reduce the extent of their investment in high liquidity risk AFS securities, but the impact of their loan portfolio on the banks' liquidity risk remain the same. These analyses reinforce the earlier findings suggesting that the reduction in investment in high liquidity risk by banks with high funding liquidity needs is related to the change in reporting regime associated with the adoption of SFAS 157.

To alleviate concerns about the existence of confounding factors, I use placebo dummy variables representing the change in accounting regulation. Instead of 12/31/2007 as the cutoff date, I conduct the analyses using 12/31/2008 and 12/31/2010. I fail to detect any significant change in the banks' behavior using these placebo dates.

5. Conclusion

Risk shifting is a manifestation of the moral hazard agency conflict that is particularly relevant to the banking industry because of banks' high leverage and the availability of deposit insurance. Higher quality accounting information may help in mitigating this agency conflict by providing outsiders with more precise information about the riskiness of banks' investment decisions. In this study, I examine whether and how the improvements in fair value disclosures resulting from the adoption of SFAS 157 affect banks' investment decisions. More precisely, I focus on banks' investments in high liquidity risk securities. SFAS 157 introduced a new set of fair value disclosures with the most prominent being the fair value hierarchy which provides information about the reliability of banks' inputs for fair value measurements. Indirectly, the fair value hierarchy informs about the level of liquidity of the markets for the banks' investment securities. My findings indicate that on average, following the introduction of the more precise fair value disclosures, banks do not modify their investment decisions.

However, the period around the adoption SFAS 157 is marked by severe liquidity shocks which may substantially alter banks' investment decisions. During a period of liquidity uncertainty, banks with high funding liquidity needs face even stronger risk shifting incentives whereas banks with low funding liquidity needs may follow an

"arbitrage" strategy. Further cross-sectional analyses based on banks' funding liquidity status reveal that the adoption of SFAS 157 is associated with a reduction (increase) in investment in high liquidity risk securities for banks with high (low) funding liquidity needs. Consistent with the risk shifting agency conflict being more acute for banks with high funding liquidity needs, these findings confirm the monitoring role of the more precise fair value disclosures introduced by SFAS 157.

The FASB adopted FSP FAS 157-4 in April 2009 to provide preparers with more flexibility in fair value reporting given the tumultuous market conditions. More precisely, FSP FAS 157-4 enables preparers to identify conditions indicating that the market for an asset measured at fair value is active and liquid enough to warrant a Level 1 classification. For securities with deteriorated market conditions, a preparer may replace a market-based Level 1 measurement by a firm-based Level 3 measurement. Level 3 measurements are by nature more subjective than Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements. The change in rules opens up the possibility of opportunistic fair value measurements, especially during a period of declining prices. For banks with high funding liquidity needs, their risk overhang from poor prior investment decisions may reinforce their propensity to manipulate their fair value estimates to conceal losses. For banks with low funding liquidity needs, they may manipulate their fair value estimates because of the uncertainty with respect to the timing in the resolution of the liquidity crisis. My findings indicate that it is only banks with high funding liquidity needs which opportunistically take advantage of the additional flexibility in fair value measurements. Following the adoption of FSP FAS 157-4, they experience a substantial reduction in the predictive ability of their unrealized fair value gains and losses for future realized and unrealized fair value gains and losses.

This study helps in shedding some light on the monitoring role of accounting information. More precisely, in assessing under which conditions more precise fair value information mitigates risk taking. These analyses also shed some light on the importance of information gleaned through the Statement of Cash Flows. Banks' trading positions are particularly slippery. Market participants can obtain a perspective on the degree of commitment to a specific investment strategy by relying on the level of turnover in the bank's portfolio of investment securities using Statement of Cash Flows information.

Appendix 1: Fair value disclosure for investment securities under SFAS No. 107 for JPMorgan Chase & Co., Fiscal year 2004.

Notes to consolidated financial statements

JPMorgan Chase & Co.

The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair value of financial assets and liabilities valued under SFAS 107; accordingly, certain assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments are excluded from the table.

		2004			2003(a)(b)			
	Carrylr	ng Estimated	Appreciation/	Carrying	Estimated	Appreciation/		
December 31, (in billions)	vali	ue fair value	(depreciation)	value	fair value	(depreciation)		
Financial assets								
Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value	\$ 125.	7 \$ 125.7	s —	\$ 84.6	\$ 84.6	\$ -		
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements	101.	4 101.3	(0.1)	76.9	77.2	0.3		
Trading assets	288.	8 288.8	-	252.9	252.9	_		
Securities	94.	5 94.5	_	60.3	60.3	_		
Loans:								
Wholesale, net of allowance for loan losses	132	0 134.6	2.6	73.2	74.5	1.3		
Consumer, net of allowance for loan losses	262.	8 262.5	(0.3)	137.0	138.2	1.2		
Interests in purchased receivables	31.	7 31.8	0.1	4.8	4.8	_		
Other assets	50.	4 51.1	0.7	61.0	61.5	0.5		
Total financial assets	\$ 1,087.	3 \$1,090.3	\$ 3.0	\$ 750.7	\$ 754.0	\$ 3.3		
Financial liabilities								
Liabilities for which fair value approximates carrying value	\$ 228.	8 \$ 228.8	s —	\$ 146.6	\$ 146.6	\$ -		
Interest-bearing deposits	385.	3 385.5	(0.2)	247.0	247.1	(0.1)		
Federal funds purchased and securities								
sold under repurchase agreements	127.	8 127.8	_	113.5	113.6	(0.1)		
Trading liabilities	151.	2 151.2	_	149.4	149.4	_		
Beneficial Interests issued by consolidated VIEs	48.	1 48.0	0.1	12.3	12.3	_		
Long-term debt-related instruments	105.	7 107.7	(2.0)	54.8	57.0	(2.2)		
Total financial liabilities	\$ 1,046.	9 \$1,049.0	\$ (2.1)	\$ 723.6	\$ 726.0	\$ (2.4)		
Net appreciation			\$ 0.9			\$ 0.9		

⁽a) Heritage JPMorgan Chase only.

⁽b) Amounts have been revised to reflect the current year's presentation.

Appendix 2: Fair value disclosure for investment securities under SFAS No. 115 for Bank of America, Inc., Fiscal year 2005.

Note 4-Trading Account Assets and Liabilities

The Corporation engages in a variety of trading-related activities that are either for clients or its own account.

The following table presents the fair values of the components of Trading Account Assets and Liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2004.

December 31

	2005		2004		
(Dollars in millions)					
Trading account assets					
Corporate securities, trading loans and other	\$ 46	,554	S	35,227	
U.S. government and agency securities ⁽¹⁾	31	.091		20,462	
Equity securities	31	.029		19,504	
Mortgage trading loans and asset-backed securities	12	290		9,625	
Foreign sovereign debt	10	,743		8,769	
Total	\$ 131	,707	\$	93,587	
Trading account liabilities		_			
U.S. government and agency securities ⁽²⁾	\$ 23	.179	S	14,332	
Equity securities	11	.371		8,952	
Foreign sovereign debt	8	915		4,793	
Corporate securities and other		407		8,538	
Mortgage trading loans and asset-backed securities		18		39	
Total	\$ 50	,890	\$	36,654	

Includes \$22.1 billion and \$17.3 billion at December 31, 2005 and 2004 of government-sponsored enterprise obligations that are not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government.

⁽²⁾ Includes \$1.4 billion and \$1.2 billion at December 31, 2005 and 2004 of government-sponsored enterprise obligations that are not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government.

Table of Contents

BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

Note 6 - Securities

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and fair value of AFS debt and marketable equity securities, and Held-to-maturity securities at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were:

(Dollars in millions)	Amortized Cost		Gross Unrealized Gains		Gross Unrealized Losses		Fair Value
Àvailable-for-sale securities						Т	
2005							
U.S. Treasury securities and agency debentures Mortgage-backed securities	\$	730	+	-	13	\$	717
Foreign securities		197,101	198		5,268		192,031
Other taxable securities(1)		10,944 13,198	1 126		54 99		10,891 13,225
	_	10,150		_		_	
Total taxable		221,973	325		5,434		216,864
Tax-exempt securities		4,693	31		32		4,692
Total available-for-sale securities	\$	226,666	\$ 356	\$	5,466	\$	221,556
Available-for-sale marketable equity securities ⁽²⁾	\$	4,060	\$ 305	\$	18	\$	4,347
2004	_			-		_	
U.S. Treasury securities and agency debentures	2	826	. 2			s	825
Mortgage-backed securities	,	173,697	174		624	,	173,247
Foreign securities		7.437	36		26		7,447
Other taxable securities(1)		9,493			13		9,480
Total taxable	_	191.453	210	_	664	_	190,999
Tax-exempt securities		3,662	87		5		3,744
Total available-for-sale securities	\$	195,115	\$ 297	S	669	S	194,743
Available-for-sale marketable equity securities ⁽²⁾	\$	3,571	\$ 32	\$	2	\$	3,601
2003	_			_		_	
U.S. Treasury securities and agency debentures	2	710	9 5	s	2	s	713
Mortgage-backed securities		56,403	63		575		55,891
Foreign securities		2,816	23		38		2,801
Other taxable securities (3)		4,765	36		69		4,732
Total taxable	_	64,694	127		684	_	64,137
Tax-exempt securities		2,167	79		1		2,245
Total available-for-sale securities	2	66,861	\$ 206	S	685	S	66,382
Available-for-sale marketable equity securities ⁽²⁾	\$	2,803	\$ 394	\$	31	3	3,166
Held-to-maturity securities	_					_	
Taxable securities	\$	4	•	\$			
Tax-exempt securities	•	43	, –	•	_	\$	43
Total held-to-maturity securities	\$	47	\$ <u> </u>	\$	_	\$	47
2004	_			_		-	
Taxable securities	2	41	5 4	s	4	s	41
Tax-exempt securities	1	289	, -		1		288
Total held-to-maturity securities	\$	330	\$ 4	S	5	5	329

Appendix 3: Fair value disclosure for investment securities under SFAS No. 115 for Wells Fargo, Inc., Quarter 1, Fiscal year 2011.

Fair Value Measurements from Independent Brokers or Independent Third Party Pricing Services For certain assets and liabilities, we obtain fair value measurements from independent brokers or independent third party pricing services and record the unadjusted fair value in our financial statements. The detail by level is shown in the table below. Fair value measurements obtained from independent brokers or independent third party pricing services that we have adjusted to determine the fair value recorded in our financial statements are not included in the following table.

		Independent brokers		nt brokers	Third party pricing services			
(in millions)		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	
March 31, 2011								
Trading assets (excluding derivatives)	\$	-	1,448	12	38	1,835	-	
Securities available for sale:								
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies		-	-	-	910	596	-	
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions		-	15	-	-	14,995	170	
Mortgage-backed securities		-	169	54	-	94,826	226	
Other debt securities		-	232	4,918	-	15,607	814	
Total debt securities			416	4,972	910	126,024	1,210	
Total marketable equity securities				-	2	824	16	
Total securities available for sale		-	416	4,972	912	126,848	1,226	
Derivatives (trading and other assets)			50	6		667	8	
Loans held for sale				-	-	1		
Derivatives (liabilities)			32	18	-	785	-	
Other liabilities			87	-	-	508	-	
								
December 31, 2010								
Trading assets (excluding derivatives)	Ś	_	1,211	6	21	2,123		
Securities available for sale:								
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies		-	-	-	936	263	-	
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions		-	15	-	-	14,055	-	
Mortgage-backed securities		-	3	50	-	102,206	169	
Other debt securities		-	201	4,133	-	14,376	606	
Total debt securities			219	4,183	936	130,900	775	
Total marketable equity securities				-	201	727	16	
Total securities available for sale		-	219	4,183	1,137	131,627	791	
Derivatives (trading and other assets)			15	44		740	8	
Loans held for sale		_		_	_	1		
Derivatives (liabilities)		_	_	46	_	841	_	
Other liabilities		-	20	-	_	393		
		_				-		

Note 13: Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The tables below present the balances of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

(in millions)		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Netting	Total
March 31, 2011						
Trading assets (excluding derivatives)						
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies	\$	2,243	4,443	420		6,686
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions Collateralized debt obligations (1)			2.319	130 1,910		2,449 1,910
Corporate debt securities		-	10,845	97		10,942
Mortgage-backed securities		-	10,920	144		11,064
Asset-backed securities		2 475	2,167	252		2,419
Equity securities		2,475	482	32	•	2,989
Total trading securities		4,718	31,176	2,565		38,459
Other trading assets	 	930	1,076	144		2,150
Total trading assets (excluding derivatives)		5,648	32,252	2,709		40,609
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies		912	595	-		1,507
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions		-	16,129	5,030		21,159
Mortgage-backed securities: Federal agencies			75.552	_		75,552
Residential		- :	18.938	10		18,948
Commercial		-	13,499	281		13,780
Total mortgage-backed securities		-	107,989	291		108,280
Corporate debt securities		38	10,296	494		10.828
Collateralized debt obligations (2)			20,230	5,616		5,616
Asset-backed securities:						
Auto loans and leases		-	190 986	4,244 98		4,434
Home equity loans Other asset-backed securities			6,519	3,411		1,084 9,930
Total asset-backed securities			7,695	7,753		15,448
				7,755		
Other debt securities			60		.	60
Total debt securities		950	142,764	19,184		162,898
Marketable equity securities:						
Perpetual preferred securities (3) Other marketable equity securities		788	734	1,989 35		3,511
		1,348	114			1,497
Total marketable equity securities		2,136	848	2,024		5,008
Total securities available for sale		3,086	143,612	21,208		167,906
Mortgages held for sale		-	25,617	3,314		28,931
Loans held for sale Loans		-	1.003	98		1.003
Mortgage servicing rights (residential)				15,648		15,648
Derivative assets:				,		,
Interest rate contracts		6	56,864	715		57,585
Commodity contracts Equity contracts		626	5.386 2,298	60 874		5.446 3,798
Foreign exchange contracts		86	4,995	59		5,140
Credit contracts			1,935	2,645		4,580
Other derivative contracts		1		8		9
Netting		-			(54,113) (4)	(54,113)
Total derivative assets (5)		719	71,478	4,361	(54,113)	22,445
Other assets		39	141	311		491
						
Total assets recorded at fair value	\$	9,492	274,103	47,649	(54,113)	277,131
Derivative liabilities: Interest rate contracts	\$	(10)	(53,149)	(416)		(53,575)
Commodity contracts	•	(10)	(4,877)	(63)		(4,940)
Equity contracts		(328)	(2,553)	(1,099)		(3,980)
Foreign exchange contracts		(67)	(3,441)	(36)		(3,544)
Credit contracts Other derivative contracts		-	(1.993)	(3.796)		(5.789)
				(26)		(26)
Netting		-	-	-	59,793 (4)	59,793
Total derivative liabilities (6)		(405)	(66,013)	(5,436)	59,793	(12,061)
Short sale liabilities:						
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies		(3,982)	(1,259)	-		(5,241)
Corporate debt securities Equity securities		(1,917)	(4.887) (36)	-	-	(4.887)
Other securities		(2,227)	(144)	(106)		(250)
Total short sale liabilities		(5,899)	(6,326)	(106)		(12,331)
		(5,055)				
Other liabilities		-	(179)	(136)		(315)
Total liabilities recorded at fair value	\$	(6,304)	(72,518)	(5,678)	59,793	(24,707)

⁽¹⁾ Includes collateralized loan obligations of \$740 million that are classified as trading assets.

⁽²⁾ Includes collateralized loan obligations of \$5.0 billion that are classified as securities available for sale.

 ⁽³⁾ Perpetual preferred securities are primarily ARS. See Note 7 for additional information.
 (4) Derivatives are reported net of cash collateral received and paid and, to the extent that the criteria of the accounting guidance covering the offsetting of amounts related to certain contracts are met, positions with the same counterparty are netted as part of a legally enforceable master netting agreement.

(5) Derivative assets include contracts qualifying for hedge accounting, economic hedges, and derivatives included in trading assets.

⁽⁶⁾ Derivative liabilities include contracts qualifying for hedge accounting, economic hedges, and derivatives included in trading liabilities.

Bibliography

- Acharya, V. (2009). A theory of systemic risk and design of prudential bank regulation. *Journal of Financial Stability* 5, 224-255.
- Acharya, V. V., & Viswanathan, S. (2011). Leverage, moral hazard, and liquidity. *Journal of Finance*, 66.
- Ahmed, A. S., Takeda, C., & Thomas, S. (1999). Bank Loan Loss Provisions: A reexamination of Capital Management, Earnings Management, and Signaling Effects. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 28 (1), 1-25.
- Akerlof, G. (1970). The market for "lemons": quality uncertainty and the market mechanism. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 84, 488-500.
- Allen, F., & Gale, D. M. (2000). Financial contagion. *Journal of Political Economy 108*.
- Altamuro, J., & Beatty, A. (2010). How does Internal Control Regulation Affect Financial Reporting? *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 49 (1/2), 58-74.
- Altamuro, J., & Zhang, H. (2011). The Financial Reporting of Fair Value Based on Model Inputs versus Market Ipunts: Evidence from Mortgage Servicing Rights.

 Working Paper.
- American Bankers Association. (September 23, 2008). Letter to SEC.
- Amihud, Y., & Mendelson, H. (1986). Asset pricing and the bid-ask spread. *Journal of Financial Economics* 17, 223-249.

- Amihud, Y., & Mendelson, H. (1991). Liquidity, maturity, and the yields on U.S. government securities. *Journal of Finance* 46, 1411-1426.
- Amihud, Y., Mendelson, H., & Pedersen, L. H. (2005). Liquidity and Asset Prices.

 Foundations and Trends in Finance, Vol. 1, No. 4.
- Ang, J., & Richardson, R. (1994). The Underwriting Experience of Commercial Bank

 Affiliates prior to the Glass-Steagall Act: A Re-examination of Evidence for

 Passage of the Act. *Journal of Banking and Finance 18*, 351-395.
- Arya, A. A., Sunder, S., & Glover, J. C. (1998). Earnings Management and the Revelation Principle. *Review of Accounting Studies Vol.3*, 7-34.
- Arya, A. A., Sunder, S., & Glover, J. C. (2003). Are Unmanaged Earnings Always Better for Shareholders? *Accounting Horizons, Supplement*, 111-116.
- Badertscher, B., Burks, J., & Easton, P. D. (June 2010). A Convenient Scapegoat: Fair Value Accounting by Commercial Banks during the Financial Crisis. *Working paper*.
- Ball, R., Jayaraman, S., & Shivakumar, L. (October 2011). The Effect of Mark-to-Market Accounting for Trading Securities on Financial Reporting Transparency and Information Asymmetry in Banks. LBS Accounting Subject Area Working Paper;

 Chicago Booth Research Paper #11-43.
- BankofAmerica, Inc. (September 17, 2004). Letter or Comment to the Proposed

 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Fair Value Measurements.

 BankofAmerica, Inc.

- Barnea, A., Haugen, R., & Senbet, L. (1980). A Rationale for debt maturity structuyre and call provisions in an agency theoretic framework. *Journal of Finance 35*.
- Barth, M. E. (1994). Fair value accounting: Evidence from investment securities and the market valuation of banks. *The Accounting Review Vol.* 69, No. 1, 1-25.
- Barth, M. E. (2008). Global Financial Reporting: Implications for U.S. Academics. *The Accounting Review Vol.* 83, No. 5, 1159-1179.
- Barth, M. E., & Clinch, G. (2009). Scale Effects in Capital Markets-Based Accounting Research. *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting Vol. 36 Issue 3-4*, 253-288.
- Barth, M. E., & Landsman, W. R. (2010). How did Financial Reporting Contribute to the Financial Crisis? *European Accounting Review, Forthcoming*.
- Barth, M. E., Beaver, W., & Landsman, W. R. (1996). Value-Relevance of Banks' Fair Value Disclosures under SFAS No. 107. *The Accounting Review*, 513-537.
- Barth, M. E., Beaver, W., & Landsman, W. R. (2001). The Relevance of the Value

 Relevance Literature for Financial Accounting Standard Setting: Another View. *Journal of Accounting and Economics 31*, 77-104.
- Beatty, A., Chamberlain, S., & Magliolo, J. (1996). An empirical analysis of the economic implications of fair value accounting for investment securities. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 22, 43-77.

- Beatty, A., Liao, S., & Weber, J. (2010). The Effect of Private Information and Monitoring on the Role of Accounting Quality in Investment Decisions.

 Contemporary Accounting Research 27, 17-47.
- Beaver, W. H. (2002). Perspectives on Recent Capital Markets Research. *The Accounting Review, Vol. 77 No.2*, 453-474.
- Beaver, W. H., & Demski, J. (January 1979). The Nature of Income Measurement . *The Accounting Review*.
- Beaver, W., & Engel, E. (1996). Discretionary Behavior with respect to Allowances for Loan Losses and the Behavior of Security prices. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 22 (1-3), 177-206.
- Beaver, W., Eger, C., Ryan, S., & Wolfson, M. (1989). Financial Reporting,

 Supplemental Disclosures, and Bank Share Prices. *Journal of Accounting*Research 27 (2), 157-178.
- Beaver, W., Kettler, P., & Scholes, M. (1970). The association between marker determined and accounting determined risk measures. *The Accounting Review 45*, 654-982.
- Benston, G. J. (1989). The Federal "Safety Net" and the Repeal of the Glass-Steagall

 Act's Separation of Commercial and Investment Banking. *Journal of Financial*Services Research 2, 287-305.
- Benston, G. J. (2008). The shortcomings of fair value accounting described in SFAS 157. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy* 27, 101-114.

- Bhagat, S., & Bolton, B. (2014). Financial Crisis and Bank Executive Compensation. *Journal of Corporate Finance 25*.
- Bhargava, R., & Fraser, D. R. (1998). On the Wealth and Risk Effects of Commercial

 Bank Expansion into Securities Underwriting: An Analysis of Section 20

 Subsidiaries. *Journal of Banking and Finance* 22, 447-465.
- Bhat, G., Frankel, R., & Martin, X. (2011). Panacea, pandora's box, or placebo: feedback in mortgage-backed security holdings and fair value accounting. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 52, 153-173.
- Biddle, G., & Hilary, G. (2006). Accounting quality and firm-level investment. *The Accounting Review 81*, 963-982.
- Biddle, G., Hilary, G., & Verdi, R. (2009). How does financial reporting quality reate to investment efficiency? *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 48, 112-131.
- Bolton, P., Freixas, X., & Shapiro, J. (2007). Conflicts of Interest, Information Provision, and Competition in the Financial Services Industry. *Journal of Financial Economics* 85 (2), 297-330.
- Bordeleau, E., & Graham, C. (2010). The impact of liquidity on bank profitability.

 Working paper.
- Boyd, J. H., & Graham, S. L. (1986). Risk, Regulation, and Bank Holding Company

 Expansion into Nonbanking. Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis Quarterly

 Review, 2-17.

- Boyd, J. H., & Hakenes, H. (2014). Looting and risk shifting in banking crises. *Journal of Economic Theory 149*.
- Boyd, J. H., Graham, S. L., & Hewitt, R. S. (1993). Bank Holding Companies Merges with Nonbank Financial Firms: Effects on the Risk of Failure. *Journal of Banking and Finance 17*, 43-63.
- Brealey, R., Myers, S., & Allen, F. (2010). *Principles of Corporate Finance 10th edition*.

 McGraw-Hill/Irwin.
- Brown, S., Lo, K., & Lys, T. (1999). Use of R-squared in accounting research: measuring changes in value relevance over the last four decades. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 28, 83-115.
- Brunnermeier, M. K., & Oehmke, M. (Handbook of the Economics of Finance). *Bubbles, financial crises, and systemic risk.* Amsterdam: 2013.
- Brunnermeier, M. K., & Pedersen, L. H. (2009). Market liquidity and funding liquidity.

 The Review of Financial Studies 22, 2201-2238.
- Burkhardt, K., & Strausz, R. (2006). The effect of fair vs. book value accounting on banks . *Working paper*.
- Bushman, R. M., & Smith, A. J. (2001). Financial accounting information and corporate governance. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 32, 237-333.
- Campa, J., & Kedia, S. (2002). Explaining the diversification discount. *Journal of Finance* 57, 1731-1762.

- Campbell, T. S., & Kracaw, W. A. (1980). Information Production, Market Signaling, and the Theory of Financial Intermediation. *The Journal of Finance 35 (4)*, 863-882.
- Casalin, F., & Dia, E. (2011). The diversification benefits of universal banks. *Newcastle Discussion Papers in Economics No. 2011/6*.
- Clor-Proell, S. M., Proell, C. A., & Warfield, T. D. (May 2010). Financial Statement

 Presentation and Nonprofessional Investors' Interpretation of Fair Value

 Information. *Working Paper*.
- Copeland, T. E., & Galai, D. (1983). Informational Effects on the bid ask spread. *Journal of Finance* 38, 1457-1469.
- Cornett, M. M., Ors, E., & Tehranian, H. (2002). Bank Performance Around the Introduction of a Section 20 Subsidiary. *The Journal of Finance* 57 (1), 501-521.
- De Franco, G., Kothari, S. P., & Verdi, R. S. (2011). The Benefits of Financial Statement Comparability. *Journal of Accounting Research Vol.* 49, No. 4, 895-931.
- DeAngelo, H., & Stulz, R. M. (2013). Why High Leverage is Optimal. Working paper.
- Demski, J. S. (1998). Performance Measure Manipulation. *Contemporary Accounting Research Vol. 15, Issue 3*, 261-285.
- Dewatripont, M., & Tirole, J. (1994). The prudential regulation of banks. The MIT Press.
- Diamond, D. W. (1991). Monitoring and Reputation: The Choice between Bank Loans and Directly Placed Debt. *The Journal of Political Economy 99 (4)*, 689-721.

- Diamond, D. W., & Rajan, R. (2011). Fear of fire sales, illiquidity seeking, and credit freezes. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 126, 557-591.
- Drucker, S., & Puri, M. (2005). On the benefits of Concurrent Lending and Underwriting. *Journal of Finance* 52, 2763-2799.
- Duarte-Silva, T. (2010). The Market for Certification by External Parties: Evidence from Underwriting and Banking Relationships. *Journal of Financial Economics* 98 (3), 568-582.
- Duchin, R., & Sosyura, D. (2012). The politics of government investment. *Journal of Financial Economics* 106, 24-48.
- Duchin, R., & Sosyura, D. (Forthcoming). Safer ratios, riskier portfolios: banks' response to government aid. *Journal of Financial Economics*.
- Dye, R. A. (1985). Strategic Accounting Choice and the Effects of Alternative Financial Reporting Requirements . *Journal of Accounting Research Vol. 23, No. 2*, 544-574.
- Eccher, E. A., Ramesh, K., & Thiagarajan, R. S. (1996). Fair value disclosures by bank holding companies. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 22, 79-117.
- Eisdorfer, A. (2008). Empirical evidence of risk shifting in financially distressed firms. *Journal of Finance 63*, 609-637.
- Ellul, A., & Yerramilli, V. (Forthcoming). Stronger risk controls, lower risk: evidence from U.S. bank holding companies. *Journal of Finance*.

- Ernst and Young LLP. (June 2010). Financial reporting developments: Fair value measurements and disclosures, Accounting Standards Codification Topic No. 820. Ernst and Young LLP.
- Ersnt & Young LLP. (September 7, 2004). Letter or Comment to the Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Fair Value Measurements. New York, NY: Ersnt & Young LLP.
- Evans, M., Hodder, L., & Hopkins, P. E. (Forthcoming). The predictive ability of fair value for future financial performance of commercial banks and the relation of predictive ability to banks' share prices. *Contemporary Accounting Research*.
- Fahlenbrach, R., Prilmeier, R., & Stulz, R. (2012). This time is the same: Using bank performance in 1998 to explain bank performance during the recent financial crisis. *Journal of Finance* 67, 2139-2185.
- Fama, E. F. (1985). What's Different about Banks? *Journal of Monetary Economics 15* (1), 29-39.
- Fernandez, A. I., & Gonzalez, F. (2005). How Accounting and Auditing Systems can

 Counteract Risk-Shifting of Safety-nets in Banking: Some International Evidence.

 Journal of Financial Stability 1.
- Fisher, R. W. (2013, January 16). *Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas*. Retrieved May 29, 2013, from http://www.dallasfed.org/news/speeches/fisher/2013/fs130116.cfm

- Focarelli, D., Marques-Ibanez, D., & Pozzolo, A. F. (2011). Are Universal Banks Better Underwriters? Evidence from the Last Days of the Glas-Steagall Act. Working Paper Series No. 1287 European Central Bank.
- Freixas, X., & Rochet, J.-C. (1997). *Microeconomics of banking*. The MIT Press.
- Gande, A., Puri, M., & Saunders, A. (1999). Bank Entry, Competition, and the Market for Corporate Securities Underwriting. *Journal of Financial Economics* 54, 165-195.
- Gande, A., Puri, M., Saunders, A., & Walter, I. (1997). Bank Underwriting of Debt Securities: Modern Evidence. *Review of Financial Studies* 10, 1175-1202.
- Geyfman, V. (2005). Banks in the Securities Business: Market-Based Risk Implications of Section 20 Subsidiaries. Working Paper No. 05-17 Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia.
- Giddy, I. (1985). Is Equity Underwriting Risky for Commercial Bank Affiliates? In I. Walter, *Deregulating Wall Street* (pp. 145-170). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Glosten , L. R., & Milgrom, P. R. (1985). Bid, ask and transaction prices in a specialist market with heterogeneously informed traders. *Journal of Financial Economics* 14, 71-100.
- Goh, B. W., Ng, J., & Yong, O. K. (2011, July 9). Social Science Research Network.

 Retrieved October 18, 2011, from SSRN:

 http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1335848

- Green, R. (1984). Investment Incentives, Debt, and Warrants. *Journal of Financial Economics* 13.
- Green, R., & Talmor, E. (1986). Asset substitution and the agency costs of debt financing. *Journal of Banking and Finance 10*, 391-399.
- Gron, A., & Winton, A. (2001). Risk overhang and market behavior. *Journal of Business* 74, 591-612.
- He, Z., Khang, G., & Krishnamurty, A. (2010). Balance sheet adjustmentd during the 2008 crisis. *IMF Economic Review 58*.
- He, Z., Khang, G., & Krishnamurthy, A. (2010). Balance Sheet Adjustments during the 2008 Crisis. *IMF Economic Review Vol. 58*, No. 1.
- Heckman, J. (1979). Sample selection bias as specification error. *Econometrica* 47, 153-161.
- Holthausen, R. W., & Watts, R. L. (2001). The Relevance of the value-relevance literature for financial accounting standard setting. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 31, 3-75.
- Hong, H. A., Kim, Y., & Lobo, G. J. (2013). Does accounting conservatism mitigate underinvestment? *Working paper*.
- Hovakimian, A., & Kane, E. J. (2000). Effectiveness of capital regulation at U.S. commercial banks, 1985 to 1994. *Journal of Finance 55*, 451-468.

- Iselin, M., & Nicoletti, A. (2013). The effect of SFAS 157 disclosures on investment decisions. *Working paper*.
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior,

 Agency Costs and Ownership Structure. *Journal of Financial Economics 3 (4)*.
- John, K., & John, T. (1993). Top-Management Compensation and Capital Structure. *Journal of Finance 48*.
- JPMorganChase, Inc. (September 3, 2004). Letter or Comment to the Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Fair Value Measurements. JPMorgan Chase, Inc.
- Kanagaretnam, K., Lobo, G., & Mathieu, R. (2003). Managerial Incentives for Income Smoothing through Bank Loan Loss Provisions. *Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting* 20 (1), 63-80.
- Kanagaretnam, K., Lobo, G., & Yang, D. (2004). Joint Tests of Signaling and Income Smoothing Through Loan Loss Provisions. *Contemporary Accounting Research* 21 (4), 843-884.
- Kareken, J., & Wallace, N. (1978). Deposit Insurance and Bank Regulation: A Partial-Equilibrium Exposition. *The Journal of Business Vol. 51, No. 3*.
- Khurana, I. K., & Kim, M.-S. (2003). Relative value relevance of historical cost vs. fair value" Evidence from bank holding companies. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy* 22 (1), 19-42.

- Kilic, E., Lobo, G., Ranasinghe, T., & Sivaramakrishnan, K. (2013). The Impact of SFAS 133 on Income Smoothing by Banks through Loan Loss Provisions. *The Accounting Review Vol. 88 No.1*, 233-260.
- Kolev, K. (2009). Do investors perceive marking-to-model as marking-to-myth? Early evidence from FAS 157 disclosure. Ph.D. dissertation. New York, New York, U.S.A.: New York University, Graduate School of Business Administration.
- Kroszner, R., & Rajan, R. (1994). Is the Glass-Steagall Act Justified? A Study of the U.S. Experience with Universal Banking before 1933. *American Economic Review* 84, 810-832.
- Kwan, S. (1998). Securities Activities by Commercial Banking Firms' Section 20Subsidiaries: Risk, Return, and Diversification Benefits. *Proceedings* (pp. 531-552). Chicago: Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago.
- Laeven, L., & Levine, R. (2007). Is there a Diversification Discount in Financial Conglomerates? *Journal of Financial Economics* 85 (2), 331-367.
- Laeven, L., & Levine, R. (2009). Bank governance, regulation and risk taking. *Journal of Financial Economics* 93, 259-275.
- Landier, A., Sraer, D., & Thesmar, D. (2011). The risk-shifting hypothesis: evidence from sub-prime originations. *Working paper*.
- Landsman, W. R. (2007). Is fair value accounting information relevant and reliable?

 Evidence from capital market research. *Accounting and Business Research*Special Issue, 19-30.

- Landsman, W. R. (August 2006). Fair value accounting for financial instruments: some implications for bank regulation. *Working paper No. 209, Bank for International Settlements*.
- Lang, L., & Stulz, R. (1994). Tobin's Q, Corporate Diversification, and Firm Performance. *Journal of Political Economy* 102, 1248-1280.
- Laux, C., & Leuz, C. (2009). The Crisis of fair value accounting: Making sense of the recent debate. *Accounting, Organizations and Society No. 34*.
- Laux, C., & Leuz, C. (Winter 2010). Did Fair-Value Accounting Contribute to the Financial Crisis? *Journal of Economic Perspectives, Vol. 24 No. 1*, 93-118.
- Lev, B., & Zhou, N. (2009). Unintended consequences: fair value accounting informs on liquidity risk. *Working paper*.
- Lisa, K., Nelson, K. K., & Shakespeare, C. (2011). Judging the Relevance of Fair Value for Financial Instruments. *The Accounting Review: Accepted manuscript. doi* 10.2308/accr-10134.
- Liu, C., & Ryan, S. G. (1995). The Effect of Bank Loan Portfolio Composition on the Market Reaction to and Anticipation of Loan Loss Provisions. *Journal of Accounting Research 33* (1), 77-94.
- Liu, C., & Ryan, S. G. (2006). Income Smoothing over the Business Cycle: Changes in Banks' Coordinated Management of Provisions for Loan Losses and Loan Charge-Offs from the pre-1990 bust to the 1990s boom. *The Accounting Review* 81 (2), 421-441.

- Loktionov, Y. V. (2009). *Does accounting quality mitigate risk shifting?* Dissertation, Sloan School of Management, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Lu, T., Sapra, H., & Subramanian, A. (2011). Agency conflicts, Prudential regulation, and marking to market. *Working paper*.
- Mandelker, G., & Raviv, A. (1977). Investment Banking: An Economic Analysis of Optimal Underwriting Contracts. *The Journal of Finance 32 (3)*, 683-694.
- Merton, R. (1974). On the pricing of corporate debt: The risks structure of interest rates. *Journal of Finance 29*, 449-470.
- Merton, R. (1977). On the pricing of contingent claims and the Modigliani-Miller theorem. *Journal of Financial Economics* 5, 241-249.
- Morgan , D. P. (2002). Rating banks: risk and uncertainty in an opaque industry.

 *American Economic Review 92, 874-888.
- Myers, S. (1977). The Determinants of Corporate Borrowing . *Journal of Financial Economics* 5, 147-175.
- Myers, S. C., & Rajan, R. (1998). The paradox of liquidity. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 113, 733-771.
- Nelson, K. K. (1996). Fair value accounting for commercial banks: an empirical analysis of SFAS No. 107. *The Accounting Review Vol. 71*, No. 2, 161-182.

- Nissim, D., & Penman, S. (2007). Fair Value Accounting in the Banking Industry.

 Occasional Paper Series, Center for Excellence in Accounting and Security

 Analysis. New York: Columbia Business School.
- O'Hara, M. (1993). Real Bills revisited: Market value accounting and loan maturity.

 Journal of Financial Intermediation III.
- Ohlson, J. A. (1995). Earnings, book values, and dividends in security valuation.

 Contemporary Accounting Research 11, 161-182.
- Park, M. S., Park, T., & Ro, B. T. (1999). Fair Value Disclosures for Investment

 Securities and Bank Equity: Evidence from SFAS No.115. *Journal of Accounting*Auditing and Finance 14 (1), 347-370.
- Pastor, L., & Stambaugh, R. F. (2003). Liquidity risk and expected stock returns. *Journal of Political Economy 111*.
- Penno, M. C. (2008). Rules and Accounting: Vagueness in Conceptual Frameworks.

 **Accounting Horizons Vol. 22, No. 3, 339-351.
- Plantin, G., Sapra, H., & Hyun, S. S. (2008). Marking-to-market: Panacea or Pandora's Box? . *Journal of Accounting Research* 46 (2), 435-460.
- PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. (September 7, 2004). Letter or Comment to the Proposed

 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Fair Value Measurements.

 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

- Pugel, T., & White, L. J. (1985). An Analysis of the Competitive Effects of Allowing Commercial Bank Affiliates to Underwrite Corporate Securities. In I. Walter, *Deregulating Wall Street* (pp. 93-144). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Puri, M. (1996). Commercial Banks in Investment Banking: Conflict of Interest or Certification Role? *Journal of Financial Economics* 40, 373-401.
- Puri, M. (397-418). The Long-Term Default Performance of Bank Underwritten Security Issues. *Journal of Banking and Finance 18*, 1994.
- Rajan, R. G. (1996). The Entry of Commercial Banks into the Securities Business: A

 Selective Survey of Theories and Evidence. In A. Saunders, & I. Walter,

 Universal Banking: Financial System Design Reconsidered (pp. 282-302).

 Homewood, IL: Irwin.
- Rapoport, M. (2011, October 14). Banks' Paths vary in Write-Downs. *Wall Street Journal* (*Eastern Edition*).
- Rickards, J. (2012, August 27). Repeal of Glass-Steagall Caused the Financial Crisis.

 Retrieved November 20, 2012, from U.S. News:

 http://www.usnews.com/opinion/blogs/economic-intelligence/2012/08/27/repeal-of-glass-steagall-caused-the-financial-crisis
- Riedl, E., & Serafeim, G. (2011). Information riks and fair values: an examination of equity betas. *Journal of Accounting Research* 49, 1083-1122.
- Ritter, J. R. (1987). The Costs of Going Public. *Journal of Financial Economics* 19, 269-281.

- Ryan, S. G. (1999). Discussion: Fair Value Disclosures for Investment Securities and

 Bank Equity: Evidence from SFAS No. 115. *Journal of Accounting Auditing and*Finance 14 (1), 371-377.
- Ryan, S. G. (2007). Financial instruments & institutions: accounting and disclosure rules. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & sons.
- Ryan, S. G. (2011). Financial Reporting for Financial Instruments. *Foundations & Trends* in Accounting Vol. 6 Issue 3/4.
- Sadka, R. (2012). Hedge-fund performance and liquidity risk. *Journal of Investment Management 10*, 60-72.
- Saunders, A., & Walter, I. (1994). *Universal banking in the United States: What could we gain? what could we lose?* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Shrieves, R., & Dahl, D. (1992). The Relationshio between Risk and Capital in Commercial Banks. *Journal of Banking and Finance 16*.
- Silber, W. L. (1991). Discounts on restricted stocks: The impact of illiquidity on stock prices. *Financial Analysts Journal* 47, 60-64.
- Smith, C., & Warner, J. (1979). On Financial Contracting: An Analysis of Bond Covenants. *Journal of Financial Economics* 7.
- Smith, C., & Warner, J. (1979). On financial contracting: An analysis of bond covenants .

 Journal of Financial Economics 7, 117-162.

- Song, C. J., Thomas, W. B., & Yi, H. (2010). Value Relevance of FAS No. 157 FairValue Hierarchy Information and the Impact of Coporate GovernanceMechanisms. *The Accounting Review Vol.* 85, No. 4, 1375-1410.
- Song, J. C., Thomas, W. B., & Yi, H. (2010). Value Relevance of FAS No. 157 Fair value Hierarchy Information and the Impact of Corporate Governance

 Mechanisms. *The Accounting Review Vol. 85*, No. 4, 1375-1410.
- The Financial Accounting Standards Board. (1991). Statement of Financial Accounting

 Standards No. 107: Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments.

 Norwalk, Connecticut: Financial Accounting Standards Board.
- The Financial Accounting Standards Board. (1999). Preliminary Views on Reporting

 Financial Instruments and Certain Related Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value,

 Discussion Paper. Norwalk, Connecticut: The Financial Accounting Standards

 Board.
- The Financial Accounting Standards Board. (2006). Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157: Fair Value Measurements. Norwalk, Connecticut: The Financial Accounting Standards Board.
- The Financial Accounting Standards Board. (February 2007). Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159: The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. Norwalk, Connecticut: The Financial Accounting Standards Board.

- The Financial Accounting Standards Board. (May 1993). Statement of Financial

 Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and

 Equity Securities. Norwalk, Connecticut: Financial Accounting Standards Board.
- The Financial Accounting Standards Board. (September 2000). Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. Norwalk, Connecticut: The Financial Accounting Standards Board.
- Vyas, D. (2011). The timeliness of accounting write-downs by U.S. financial institutions during the financial crisis of 2007-2008. *Journal of Accounting Research* 49.
- Wahlen, J. (1994). The Nature of Information in Commercial Bank Loan Loss

 Disclosures. *The Accounting Review 69 (3)*, 455-478.
- Whttington, G. (2010). Measurement in Financial Reporting. Abacus Vol. 46, No. 1.
- Wustemann, J., & Wustemann, S. (2010). Why Consistency of Accounting Standards

 Matters: A Contribution to the Rules-Versus-Principles Debate in Financial

 Reporting. *Abacus, Vol. 46 No. 1*.
- Yasuda, A. (2005). Do bank relationships affect the firm's underwriter choice in the corporate-bond underwriting market? *Journal of Finance* 60, 1259-1292.
- Yong, K., Barron, O., & Chung, S. G. (2013). The Effect of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157 Fair Value Measurements on Analysts'

 Information Environment. *Working paper*.

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics

Table 1				Descriptive	e statistics			
Panel A					ls liquidity b	anks		
Variable	N	Mean	Min	Q1	Median	Q3	Max	Std. Dev.
size	342	17.070	14.632	15.588	16.452	18.171	21.582	1.809
afs	342	0.149	0.000	0.096	0.136	0.192	0.524	0.086
htm	342	0.021	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.014	0.494	0.063
purch_afs	342	0.092	0.000	0.031	0.061	0.117	1.435	0.129
purch_htm	342	0.007	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.251	0.027
sec_inc	342	0.001	-0.094	0.000	0.000	0.003	0.096	0.012
diff_afs	341	0.006	-0.212	-0.009	0.006	0.021	0.214	0.036
diff_htm	199	0.005	-0.471	0.000	0.008	0.028	0.143	0.057
diff_sec	342	0.006	-0.193	-0.008	0.007	0.021	0.214	0.035
beta	342	0.049	-1.380	-0.214	-0.009	0.235	2.090	0.444
netrepo	342	0.008	-0.213	0.000	0.010	0.020	0.081	0.029
Panel B			Low fu	nding need	ls liquidity b	anks		
Variable	N	Mean	Min	Q1	Median	Q3	Max	Std. Dev.
size	344	16.288	13.836	15.534	16.016	16.660	21.526	1.192
afs	344	0.211	0.009	0.132	0.185	0.253	0.773	0.117
htm	344	0.035	0.000	0.000	0.009	0.043	0.516	0.062
purch_afs	344	0.213	0.000	0.032	0.077	0.150	18.182	1.038
purch_htm	344	0.014	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.007	0.691	0.059
sec_inc	344	0.000	-0.327	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.127	0.021
diff_afs	344	0.004	-0.085	-0.008	0.006	0.020	0.059	0.022
diff_htm	262	0.007	-0.305	-0.006	0.004	0.021	0.146	0.040
diff_sec	344	0.005	-0.085	-0.008	0.007	0.022	0.059	0.022
beta	344	0.028	-1.431	-0.236	0.052	0.257	1.639	0.394
netrepo	344	0.070	-0.031	0.035	0.052	0.081	0.642	0.078

Notes: This table presents the descriptive statistics of banks by funding liquidity needs for the period 2004-2012. Size is the natural logarithm of total asset; afs is the book value of available-for-sale securities at year end divided by the book value of total assets of the firm; htm is the book value of held-to-maturity securities at year end divided by the book value of total assets; purch_afs refers to the purchases of investment securities classified as available-for-sale securities and made during the current fiscal year; purch_htm refers to the purchases of investment securities classified as held-to-maturity and made during the current fiscal year; sec_inc refers to sum of realized and unrealized gains and losses on investment securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity scaled by the beginning historical cost of investment securities classified as available-for-sale scaled by the beginning of period historical cost of available-for-sale securities; diff_htm represents the difference between the fair values and historical costs of investment securities classified as held-to-maturity scaled by beginning historical cost of held-to-maturities securities; diff_sec is the sum of diff_afs and diff_htm; beta is the firm-year measure of liquidity beta computed using a four-factor model; netrepo is the difference between the securities sold and purchased under repurchase agreements scaled by the book value of total assets

Panel C	Univariate differences						
Variable	High funding liquidity needs	Low funding liquidity needs	Difference	p-value			
size	17.070	16.288	0.782	<0.0001			
afs	0.149	0.211	-0.062	< 0.0001			
htm	0.150	0.212	-0.062	< 0.0001			
purch_afs	0.092	0.213	-0.121	0.03			
purch_htm	0.007	0.014	-0.007	0.06			
sec_inc	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.418			
diff_afs	0.006	0.004	0.002	0.402			
diff_htm	0.005	0.007	-0.002	0.591			
diff_sec	0.006	0.005	0.001	0.626			
beta	0.049	0.028	0.021	0.518			

Table 2: Correlation Matrix

Table 2		Correlation matrix								
	High fu	High funding liquidity needs banks (lower diagonal) and Low funding liquidity needs banks (upper diagonal)								
	afs	htm	purch_afs	purch_htm	sec_inc	diff_afs	diff_htm	diff_sec	beta	netrepo
afs		0.999	0.275	-0.116	0.051	-0.044	0.151	-0.036	0.073	0.174
htm	-0.144		0.011	0.856	-0.077	0.081	0.061	0.041	0.010	0.078
purch_afs	0.006	-0.060		-0.002	0.030	-0.009	0.070	-0.008	0.100	0.065
purch_htm	-0.066	0.128	-0.026		-0.015	0.126	0.074	0.080	0.035	0.044
sec_inc	0.049	-0.023	0.017	0.022		0.442	0.256	0.464	0.095	-0.173
diff_afs	0.038	-0.056	0.011	-0.029	0.303		0.368	0.982	0.052	-0.113
diff_htm	0.006	0.003	0.013	0.019	0.025	0.314		0.449	0.039	-0.193
diff_sec	0.004	-0.017	0.004	-0.034	0.294	0.949	0.450		0.052	-0.120
beta	-0.153	0.094	0.128	0.044	0.109	0.111	0.263	0.144		0.025
netrepo	0.365	0.422	0.002	0.034	-0.003	-0.110	-0.104	-0.123	-0.208	

Notes: This table presents the correlation matrix of banks by funding liquidity needs for the period 2004-2012. The upper (lower) diagonal presents the information for the high (low) funding liquidity banks. The bold correlation coefficients indicate statistical significance of at least 10%. Size is the natural logarithm of total asset; afs is the book value of available-for-sale securities at year end divided by the book value of total assets of the firm; htm is the book value of held-to-maturity securities at year end divided by the book value of total assets; purch_afs refers to the purchases of investment securities classified as available-for-sale securities and made during the current fiscal year; purch_htm refers to the purchases of investment securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity scaled by the beginning historical cost of available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities; diff_afs refers to the difference between the fair values and historical costs of investment securities classified as available-for-sale securities; diff_htm represents the difference between the fair values and historical costs of investment securities classified as held-to-maturity scaled by beginning historical cost of held-to-maturities securities; diff_sec is the sum of diff_afs and diff_htm; beta is the firm-year measure of liquidity beta computed using a four-factor model; netrepo is the difference between the securities sold and purchased under repurchase agreements scaled by the book value of total assets

Table 3: Changes in Fair Value Accounting Rules and Risk Shifting

Table 3	Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting					
		(1)	((2)		
	Estimate	p-value	Estimate	p-value		
Intercept	(0.110)	0.728	(0.113)	0.697		
purch_afs	0.065	<.0001	0.088	0.020		
purch_htm	0.350	0.017	0.352	0.006		
afs_{t-1}	(0.153)	0.426	(0.151)	0.400		
htm _{t-1}	0.041	0.868	0.040	0.903		
$beta_{t-1}$	(0.472)	0.011	(0.489)	0.016		
size	0.009	0.538	0.002	0.888		
post			0.245	0.079		
post_purch_afs			(0.030)	0.376		
post_purch_htm			0.055	0.925		
Adjusted R ²	0	.24	0	.34		
N	6	577	677			

This table presents regression results from the estimation of Model (4) with the dependent variable the change in bank's liquidity beta. The standard errors are clustered at the bank and year levels.

DeltaβL=Change in liquidity beta from year t-1 to year tPurch_afs=Purchases of investment securities classified as available-for-sale scaled by beginning total assetsPurch_htm=Purchases of investment securities classified as held-to-maturity scaled by beginning total assetsAfs=Investment securities classified as available-for-sale scaled by beginning total assetsHtm=Investment securities classified as held-to-maturity scaled by beginning total assetsbeta=Liquidity betaPost=An indicator variable that equals 1 if the observation belongs to the fiscal period after12/31/2007, and zero otherwise

Natural logarithm of total assets

Size

Table 4: Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting conditional on funding liquidity needs

Table 4		Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting conditional on funding liquidity needs					
	(1)	(2	2)			
	Estimate	p-value	Estimate	p-value			
Intercept	(0.081)	0.575	(0.043)	0.756			
purch_afs	0.366	0.373	0.169	0.730			
purch_htm	0.282	0.763	(1.246)	0.197			
afs _{t-1}	(0.173)	0.763	(0.152)	0.197			
htm _{t-1}	0.038	0.240	0.151	0.525			
beta _{t-1}							
size	(0.472)	<.0001	(0.492)	<.0001			
~	0.006	0.448	(0.002)	0.760			
repo	0.021	0.533	(0.013)	0.733			
repo_purch_afs	(0.306)	0.056	(0.081)	0.422			
repo_purch_htm	0.086	0.927	1.713	0.077			
post_purch_afs			0.216	<.0001			
post_purch_htm			0.365	0.088			
repo_post			1.210	0.337			
repo_purch_afs_post			0.017	0.790			
repo_purch_htm_post			(0.397)	0.076			
Adjusted R ²	0	0.25		34			
N		77	677				

This table presents regression results from the estimation of Model (4) with the dependent variable the change in bank's liquidity beta. The standard errors are clustered at the firm and year levels.

Table 5: Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting conditional on funding liquidity needs

Table 5	Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting conditional on funding liquidity needs						
Panel A	0	One-year-ahead income on investment securities					
	(1))	(2))	(3))	
		p-		p-		p-	
	Estimate	value	Estimate	value	Estimate	value	
Intercept	(0.014)	0.141	(0.014)	0.151	(0.014)	0.129	
diff_afs	0.205	<.0001	0.117	0.003	0.140	0.058	
diff_htm	(0.013)	0.502	0.015	0.538	0.021	0.495	
sec_inc _{t-1}	0.105	0.021	0.110	0.014	0.141	0.002	
purch_afs	0.000	0.930	(0.000)	0.954	(0.000)	0.933	
purch_htm	0.003	0.836	0.007	0.639	0.008	0.577	
size	0.001	0.180	0.001	0.190	0.001	0.154	
repo			0.000	0.885	0.001	0.822	
repo_diff_afs			0.248	0.000	0.458	<.0001	
repo_diff_htm			(0.068)	0.075	(0.061)	0.228	
post					(0.001)	0.796	
post_diff_afs					(0.030)	0.727	
post_diff_htm					(0.013)	0.795	
repo_post					0.005	0.225	
repo_diff_afs_post					(0.504)	0.001	
repo_diff_htm_post					0.033	0.678	
Adjusted R ²	0.1	1	0.13		0.16		
N	460		460			490	

This table presents regression results from the estimation of Model (6) and Model (7). The dependent variable is the one-year-ahead income on investment securities (realized and unrealized). The standard errors are clustered at the firm and year levels.

Panel B	Sum of one- and two-year-ahead income on investment securities						
	(1	(1)		2)	(3	(3)	
	Estimate	p-value	Estimate	p-value	Estimate	p-value	
Intercept	(0.020)	0.097	(0.022)	0.071	(0.023)	0.051	
diff_afs	0.325	<.0001	0.197	<.0001	0.311	0.001	
diff_htm	0.006	0.812	0.046	0.139	0.065	0.094	
sec_inc _{t-1}	0.089	0.125	0.098	0.086	0.148	0.009	
purch_afs	0.000	0.980	(0.000)	0.864	(0.000)	0.829	
purch_htm	0.009	0.652	0.014	0.470	0.016	0.388	
size	0.001	0.134	0.001	0.110	0.001	0.078	
repo			0.002	0.471	0.001	0.720	
repo_diff_afs			0.360	<.0001	0.530	0.000	
repo_diff_htm			(0.100)	0.042	(0.109)	0.092	
post					0.000	0.933	
post_diff_afs					(0.147)	0.182	
post_diff_htm					(0.049)	0.445	
repo_post					0.007	0.159	
repo_diff_afs_post					(0.550)	0.003	
repo_diff_htm_post					0.077	0.447	
Adjusted R ²	0.1	15	0.1	18	0.2	22	
N	46	0	46	460		490	

This table presents regression results from the estimation of Model (6) and Model (7). The dependent variable is the sum of the one-year-ahead and two-year-ahead income on investment securities (realized and unrealized). The standard errors are clustered at the firm and year levels.

Panel C	Sum of one-, two- and three-year-ahead income on investment securities						
	(1)		(2	(2)		(3)	
	Estimate	p-value	Estimate	p-value	Estimate	p-value	
Intercept	(0.024)	0.082	(0.029)	0.045	(0.030)	0.033	
diff_afs	0.370	<.0001	0.235	<.0001	0.391	0.000	
diff_htm	(0.004)	0.890	0.048	0.191	0.070	0.125	
sec_inc _{t-1}	0.094	0.171	0.103	0.126	0.169	0.012	
purch_afs	0.000	0.983	(0.000)	0.862	(0.000)	0.798	
purch_htm	0.027	0.245	0.032	0.166	0.036	0.108	
size	0.001	0.111	0.002	0.075	0.002	0.057	
repo			0.003	0.254	0.001	0.884	
repo_diff_afs			0.377	0.000	0.476	0.004	
repo_diff_htm			(0.130)	0.025	(0.153)	0.045	
post					0.001	0.752	
post_diff_afs					(0.207)	0.111	
post_diff_htm					(0.059)	0.431	
repo_post					0.011	0.048	
repo_diff_afs_post					(0.532)	0.015	
repo_diff_htm_post					0.083	0.490	
Adjusted R ²	0.1	4	0.1	16	0.2	21	
N	46	0	46	50	490		

This table presents regression results from the estimation of Model (6) and Model (7). The dependent variable is the sum of the one-year-ahead, two-year-ahead, and three-year-ahead income on investment securities (realized and unrealized). The standard errors are clustered at the firm and year levels.

Table 6: Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting

Table 6 Changes in fair value ac rules and risk shift		
Panel A		
	Estimate	p-value
Intercept	(0.097)	0.515
purch_afs	0.089	0.313 0.074
purch_htm	0.355	0.074
loans		
	0.053	0.848
afs_lag1	(0.164)	0.193
htm_lag1	0.045	0.849
beta1_lag1	(0.493)	<.0001
size	0.001	0.940
post	0.27	<.0001
post_purch_afs	(0.03)	0.57
post_purch_htm	(0.00)	0.997
post_loans	(0.44)	0.3105
Adjusted R2		0.32
N	677	
m .		
Test	F-stat	p-value
post_purch_afs= post_loans	0.89	0.347
post_purch_htm= post_loans	0.22	0.641

This table presents regression results from the estimation of Model (4) with the dependent variable the change in bank's liquidity beta. In addition, I control for the changes in loans held for investment to assess their relative impact on the bank's liquidity risk. The standard errors are clustered at the bank and year levels.

Panel B	and risk shifting o	Changes in fair value accounting rules and risk shifting conditional on funding liquidity needs		
	E-44-	1		
	Estimate	p-value		
Intercept	(0.046)	0.869		
purch_afs	0.178	0.192		
purch_htm	(1.272)	0.226		
loans	0.136	0.384		
afs_lag1	(0.168)	0.385		
htm_lag1	0.164	0.639		
beta1_lag1	(0.495)	0.013		
size	(0.003)	0.815		
repo	0.008	0.800		
repo_purch_afs	(0.090)	0.467		
repo_purch_htm	1.737	0.098		
repo_loans	(0.257)	0.413		
post	0.229	0.155		
post_purch_afs	0.360	0.054		
post_purch_htm	1.205	0.281		
post_loans	(0.145)	0.753		
repo_post	0.036	0.631		
repo_purch_afs_post	(0.390)	0.037		
repo_purch_htm_post	(0.920)	0.561		
repo_loans_post	(0.534)	0.342		
Adjusted R2		0.32		
N		677		
Test	F-stat	p-value		
repo_purch_afs= repo_loans	1.01	0.249		
repo_purch_htm= repo_loans	3.03	0.06		
post_purch_afs= post_loans	4.13	0.03		
post_purch_htm= post_loans	0.97	0.357		
repo_post_purch_afs= repo_post_loans	3.66	0.07		
repo_post_purch_htm= repo_post_loans	1.31	0.289		

This table presents regression results from the estimation of Model (4) with the dependent variable the change in bank's liquidity beta. In addition, I control for the changes in loans held for investment to assess their relative impact on the bank's liquidity risk. The standard errors are clustered at the bank and year levels.